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The w i t n e s s ,  D r  D e n n i s  B r o o k s ,  a f t e r  f i r s t  b e i n g  sworn  

t o  t e s t i f y  t o  t h e  t r u t h ,  t h e  who le  t r u t h ,  and  n o t h i n g  

b u t  t h e  t r u t h  d i d  s a y  a s  f o l l o w s :  

D i r e c t  E x a m i n a t i o n  by M r  Roche:  

Q. Good a f t e r n o o n ,  S i r .  Would you s t a t e  y o u r  

f u l l  name. 

A .  Good a f t e r n o o n ,  S i r .  My name i s  D e n n i s  B r u c e  

B r o o k s .  

Q. What i s  y o u r  o c c u p a t i o n ?  

A .  

o r t h o p e d i c  S u r g e r y .  

Q. 
q u e s t i o n s  a b o u t  y o u r  b a c k g r o u n d ,  y o u r  e d u c a t i o n ,  y o u r  

e x a m i n a t i o n ,  a n d  t h e n  I ' l l  a s k  you some q u e s t i o n s  a b o u t  

I ' m  a d o c t o r  of m e d i c i n e  w i t h  a s p e c i a l t y  i n  

D o c t o r  B r o o k s ,  I ' m  g o i n g  t o  a s k  you some 

w h e t h e r  o r  n o t  you h a v e  any  o p i n i o n s  i n  t h e  m a t t e r  of 

Nancy L .  B r o o k s .  B e f o r e  w e  g e t  i n t o  t h a t  I would  l i k e  

t o  a s k  you where  d i d  you a t t e n d  m e d i c a l  s c h o o l ?  

A .  Western Reserve U n i v e r s i t y .  

Q. I n  what  y e a r  d i d  you g r a d u a t e ?  

A .  1 9 6 3 .  

Q. F o l l o w i n g  m e d i c a l  s c h o o l ,  c o u l d  you d e s c r i b e  

f o r  t h e  j u r y  t h e  t r a i n i n g  you  r e c e i v e d  i n  t h e  m e d i c a l  

p r o f e s s i o n .  

A .  Y e s .  I s e r v e d  a s  a r o t a t i n g  i n t e r n  a t  t h e  M t  

S i n a i  H o s p i t a l  of  C l e v e l a n d  f o r  o n e  y e a r  a n d  t h e n  
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served as a general surgery resident, also at Mt Sinai 

Hospital for one year. 

My third and fourth year of p o s t  graduate training 

was in orthopedic surgery residence at Mt Sinai. During 

my fifth year I was a National Institute of Health 

Research Associate in the biomechanics laboratory of 

Case western Reserve University. And my sixth and final 

year of post graduate training was in children's 

orthopedics at Indiana University Medical Center. 

Q .  Doctor, I understand you currently specialize 

in the field of orthopedic surgery. 

A. Yes. 

Q. What is orthopedic surgery? 

A. Orthopedic surgery is that branch of medicine 

that threats patients who have problems with their 

musculo-skeletal system. By that I mean I take care of 

patients who have problems with their bones, joints, 

the soft tissues that cover those areas, the muscles, 

ligaments, and tendons, as well as taking care of 

patients who have problems with their spine and its 

contents, the intervertebral disks and nerve roots. 

I treat a variety of patient problems from those 

that are apparent at birth that are called congenital, 

kind of problems that develop during adolescents and 

puberty that are referred to as developmental, the 
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i n j u r i e s  t h a t  a r i s e  f r o m  s p o r t s  a c t i v i t i e s ,  work 

r e l a t e d  a c t i v i t i e s ,  v e h i c u l a r  a c c i d e n t s .  Those  p r o b l e m s  

a r e  c a l l e d  t r a u m a t i c .  And t h e n  t h e r e ' s  a l a r g e  c l a s s  of 

p a t i e n t  p r o b l e m s  t h a t  w e  a l l  e n c o u n t e r  a s  we grow o l d e r  

and  t h o s e  a r e  r e f e r r e d  t o  a s  d e g e n e r a t i v e .  

A s  a n  o r t h o p e d i c  s u r g e o n  I t r e a t  p a t i e n t s  b o t h  

w i t h  s u r g e r y  and w i t h o u t  s u r g e r y  d e p e n d i n g  on t h e i r  

n e e d s .  

Q. D o c t o r ,  f o l l o w i n g  t h e  m e d i c a l  t r a i n i n g  y o u ' v e  

d e s c r i b e d  t o  t h i s  p o i n t  d i d  you e n t e r  t h e  p r i v a t e  

p r a c t i c e  of m e d i c i n e ?  

A .  No. 

Q. What d i d  you do  f o l l o w i n g  t h e  t r a i n i n g  you 

d e s c r i b e d  s o  f a r ?  

A .  I s e r v e d  two y e a r s  i n  t h e  U n i t e d  S t a t e s  A i r  

F o r c e ,  t h e n  I e n t e r e d  p r i v a t e  p r a c t i c e .  

Q. Okay, and i n  what  y e a r  d i d  you e n t e r  p r i v a t e  

p r a c t i c e ?  

A .  1971. 

Q. We a r e  now a t  y o u r  o f f i c e  on C e d a r  Avenue i n  

Beachwood, O h i o .  How l o n g  h a v e  you h a d  a n  o f f i c e  a t  

t h i s  l o c a t i o n ?  

A .  F o u r t e e n  y e a r s .  

Q. Now i n  y o u r  m e d i c a l  p r a c t i c e ,  D o c t o r ,  do  you 

t r e a t  p a t i e n t s  who h a v e  b e e n  i n j u r e d  by t r a u m a t i c  
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And when called on, when proper to do so, do Q. 
you perform surgery on those patients? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And do you a l s o  treat them by non invasive 

means like physical therapy , and medicines, and 

whatever else you think is appropriate? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you treat patients who have problems with 

the rotator cuff? 

A. Yes. 

9 .  Do you perform surgeries on patients, where 

its necessary and appropriate, who have problems with 

rotator cuffs? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Could you tell the court and jury, Sir, whether or 

not you are Board Certified in your field. 

A. I am Board Certified. 

Q. When were you Board Certified? 

A. I was initially Board certified in 1971 and 

then was recertified this year in 1994. 

Q. What does it mean to be Board certified in 

orthopedic surgery? 

A. Board certification is an indication that I 
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have the knowledge, skill, and expertise to practice my 

specialty. In orthopedic surgery it means that I 

completed a postgraduate training program much like I 

outlined, that I practiced orthopedic surgery to the 

exclusion of other branches of medicine for one year, I 

believe it was, in one location, that I submitted 

letters of recommendation from my peers, and then I 

passed an examination which in my case.was a full day 

written examination and a half day oral examination. 

Q. Doctor, in addition to being Board Certified 

are you a Board Examiner? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What does it mean to be a Board examiner? 

A. The examination for the American Board of 

Orthopedic Surgery is made up of two parts. There is 

the written examination and the oral examination. I 

have the privilege of being an oral examiner. During 

the Board Examinations another examiner and I sit and 

discuss with a candidate his or her orthopedic practice 

to determirie whether they're capable of continuing on 

in the practice of orthopedic surgery. 

Q. So you are involved in the testing of other 

physicians to determine whether or not they will be 

Board Certified in orthopedic surgery. 

A. Yes. 
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Q. Doctor, you currently have privileges at any 

of the hospitals here in the area. 

A. Yes I do. 

Q. At what hospitals do you have privileges? 

A. The Mt Sinai Medical Center. 

Q. Now Doctor, did I ask you to meet with and 

examine a young lady by the name of Nancy Brooks? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And did you do so? 

A. I did. 

Q. Following your meeting with her did you 

prepare a written report of your findings in this case? 

A .  Yes. 

Q. Doctor, I'm going to ask you some questions 

about your examination and your findings, and if it 

would help you to do so, I know it would help me, I'd 

like to follow your October 19,1994 report and invite 

you to refer to it if it helps you. Okay Sir? 

A. Thank you. 

Q. The first question I have regarding Miss 

Brooks is could you tell us please when it was you met 

with her? 

A. I examined her on October 18,1994, 

Q. And before examining her did you take a 

history from her? 
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A. Yes. 

Q, What history did she give you, Doctor ? 

A. She told me that she had been injured in 

August of 1992 when she was driving an automobile 

which was moving when it was involved in an accident 

with another automobile. She told me that the front end 

of her vehicle was damaged. 

She was restrained at the time of the accident and 

as she indicated, I' pushed myself back into the seat 

with both hands." She told me that following the 

accident she was shook up. 

The next day she phoned her family physician,Dr 

Coleman. She told me that within a week of the accident 

she was examined by him. She recalled that at that time 

she had pain in the superior aspect of her right 

shoulder. And she indicated, "kind of like down through 

your neck." She also had pain in her upper back and her 

lower back. She told me that her left thigh was kind of 

going numb. 

Dr Coleman referred her to physical therapy, she 

told me. And she received treatment three times a week 

over what she referred to as a long extended period of 

time, more than one year. She went on to tell me that 

sometime after the initial examination she was 

reexamined by Dr Coleman. He then referred her to Dr 
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Kennedy. Dr Kennedy advised her to continue with 

physical therapy and injected her shoulder with 

cortisone shots on approximately four occasions. She 

told me that Dr Kennedy did not order any special 

diagnostic tests with respect to her right shoulder. 

In February of 1993 she was admitted to Barberton 

Hospital for three days. She underwent surgery at which 

time Dr Kennedy repaired what she referred to as the 

rotator cuff and also fixed a torn tendon. She recalled 

that at the time she was unable to lift her right arm 

and had continual pain . 
Following her surgery she continued under Dr 

Kennedy's care. She told me that she wore a sling for 

approximately two weeks and then went to physical 

therapy. She continued to treat with Dr Kennedy until 

approximately June . . .  July rather ..of 1993. 
She recalled that in June or July of 1993 Dr 

Kennedy referred her for pain management at Barberton 

Hospital. At that time she had symptoms referable to 

her riliht shoulder, upper back, and neck. She recalled 

that the surgery, as she put it, "didn't completely 

solve the problem. ' I  

She went for therapy two times a week for two 

months and she received what she described as nerve 

blocks. She told me that after the first one it made 
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the pain.worse. She indicated that she received these 

blocks around her entire shoulder girdle. 

She told me that Dr Lew referred her back to Dr 

Kennedy who indicated there was nothing else he could 

do. Dr Kennedy referred her to Dr Wilcox and she told 

me that Dr Wilcox also indicated there was nothing else 

he could do. In November of 1993 she came under the 

care of chiropractor Leone at the recommendation of a 

friend. she received treatment three times a week for 

approximately a month. She recalled the treatment 

wasn't helping. It wasn't curing the pain. She told me 

that she last received chiropractic treatment in March 

of 1994. 

She also told me that in approximately February of 

1994 she underwent a CT scan. She told me, "they did my 

back instead of my shoulder. There was nothing wrong." 

So that completed the first part of her history. 

What she told me had occurred between the time of the 

accident in August of 1992 and the time that I examined 

her in October of 1994. 

Q. Alright Doctor, I wonder if I could ask you a 

question or two about the history to this point. 

A. Sure, 

Q. Sou indicated that when she first saw Dr 

Coleman she had pain in the superior aspect of her 
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right shoulder. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Could you indicate for the court and jury 

where that is, the superior aspect of the right 

shoulder? 

A. Superior means top and so the superior aspect 

of you right shoulder is this area right in here in the 

area of the trapezius muscle. 

Q. She indicated that when she saw Dr kennedy 

she told you that he did not order any specialized 

diagnostic tests of the right shoulder, and you noted 

that in your report. What tests are available that 

could have been done by Dr Kennedy regarding the right 

shoulder? 

A. Well specifically with respect to Mrs Brooks 

if Dr Kennedy was concerned about a rotator cuff injury 

or rotator cuff problem the two best diagnostic tests 

that are presently being done are an ultrasound of the 

shoulder or an MRI of the shoulder. There's a third 

test that is not done quite as frequently as had been 

done in the past arid that's an arthrogram of the 

shoulder where dye is injected into the subacromial 

space. 

Q. Doctor, do you have a model on which you 

could show the court and jury where the rotator cuff is 
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1 located and then I'd ask you some questions about its 
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3 

function, how it helps, what it does, that sort of 

thing? 

4 A. Yes. This is a model of the right shoulder. 

5 This is the side that's furthest away from the center 

6 of the body. Its called the lateral aspect. So the 

center of the body would be over here. This is the 

8 collar bone or the clavicle. This is the humerus or 

upper arm. This is the ball and socket that actually 9 

10 

11 

makes up the shoulder joint. This structure right here 

is the acromium which is a portion of the shoulder 

12 blade or the scapula. 

13 N o w  the rotator cuff is made up of a number of 

14 muscles. In the front there's one muscle that's called 

the subscapularis. The major muscles of the rotator 15 

16 cuff are the supraspinatus which is this muscle. The 

infraspinatus which is this muscle and the teres minor 

which is this muscle h a c k  here. So those are the 

components of the rotator cuff. 

1 7  

18 

19 

20 Q. Doctor, is it of any significance in your 

review of this case that when Mrs Brooks went to Dr 21 

22 Coleman she complained of pain in the superior aspect 

of her right shoulder? 

A. Yes. 

23 

24 

2 5  Q. And why is that significant to you? 
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A. Those are not the kind of complaints that 

somebody has when they've had an injury to their 

rotator cuff. In the superior aspect of the shoulder, 

right here, when you have an injury that causes, or you 

have an accident rather that causes an injury to the 

rotator cuff, people complain of pain either in their 

shoulder, per se, down here. Occasionally they'll 

complain of pain in the back in the area of the 

supraspinatus, but you don't complain of pain in the 

trapezius. 

Q. Doctor, on the model, where is the superior 

aspect of the right shoulder? 

A. Well the superior aspect of the right 

shoulder would be superficial or on top of the collar 

bone, the clavical, and the acromia. 

Q. Now I'd like to ask you more about the 

history. Before I do I want to ask you two questions 

t.hat I failed to ask you at the outset that I should 

have. Number one, its certainly true that you are no 

relation to Nancy L. Brooks, is that correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. And the other thing I should have asked you 

and I did not. You are licensed to practice medicine in 

the state of Ohio? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. And when were you s o  l i c e n s e d ?  

A .  1 9 6 3 .  

Q. Thank you .  I would  l i k e ,  D o c t o r ,  t o  c o n t i n u e  

w i t h  t h e  h i s t o r y .  Could  you p l e a s e  t e l l  u s  what  s h e  

t o l d  y o u  a b o u t  h e r  c u r r e n t  c o n d i t i o n  when you 

i n t e r v i e w e d  h e r ?  

A .  Yes .  She  s a i d ,  I' i t s  s t i l l  my a r m ."  She  was 

r e f e r r i n g  t o  h e r  r i g h t  arm and  i n d i c a t e d  t h a t ,  " i t  

d e p e n d s  on u s e .  I t  w i l l  g o  numb." S h e  i n d i c a t e d  t h a t  

h e r  e n t i r e  arm became numb and  t h a t  s h e  a l s o  

e x p e r i e n c e d  numbness i n  h e r  r i g h t  thumb a n d  i n d e x  

f i n g e r  . 
She e x p e r i e n c e d  p a i n  i.n t h e  a n t e r i o r  and  p o s t e r i o r  

a s p e c t  o f  h e r  r i g h t  s h o u l d e r  a s  well  a s  s h e  s a i d ,  "down 

my arm t o  my h a n d .  The p a i n  o c c u r r e d  q u i t e  o f t e n . ' '  H e r  

symptoms were i n c r e a s e d  by a n y t h i n g  I t r y  t o  d o ,  s h e  

s a i d .  They would d e c r e a s e  by t a k i n g  T y l e n o l ,  " a l t h o u g h  

n o t h i n g  makes i t  f e e l  b e t t e r . "  And t h o s e  were t h e  o n l y  

symptoms s h e  had  w i t h  r e s p e c t  t o  t h e  a c c i d e n t .  

Q. Did you d i s c u s s  w i t h  h e r  h e r  p a s t  h i s t o r y ?  

A .  I d i d .  

Q. Nhat  d i d  s h e  t e l l  you  a b o u t  t h a t , D o c t o r ?  

A .  She t o l d  me t h a t  s h e  d i d  n o t  h a v e  any 

symptoms w i t h  r e s p e c t  t o  h e r  n e c k ,  r i g h t  s h o u l d e r ,  o r  

r i g h t  arm b e f o r e  t h e  a c c i d e n t .  S h e  h a d  n o t  b e e n  
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involved in any prior accidents . . .  vehicular accidents, 
rather. She had sustained an injury to her right knee 

3 at work and she had not been involved in any accidents 

since the accident in 1992. 4 

5 She went on to tell me that at the time of 

her accident she was working as a waitress. Following 6 

7 the accident she missed two days from work and then 

worked until the time of her surgery. 8 

9 She indicated that Dr Kennedy informed her 

that," work  was agitating my arm." And that completed 10 

11 

12 

her history. 

Q. After you obtained that history, Dr B r o o k s ,  

13 did you then conduct a physical examination of Nancy 

B r o o k s ?  14 

1 5  A. Yes. 

16 Q .  Could you describe for the court and jury 

what you did and what your findings were? 17 

18 A. Yes. The physical examination revealed a 

female of approximately her stated age who was of short 19 

2 0  stature and somewhat overweight. I noted that she got 

21 out of a chair without difficulty, that she walked 

22 

23 

without limping, and that. she was able to climb onto 

and off of the examining table in a normal fashion. 

24 

25 

I examined her cervical spine and noted that she 

had normal cervical lordosis without evidence of 
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paracervical or trapezius spasm. 

Q. Could I ask you to clarify for me and the 

jury what those terms mean, please? 

A. Certainly. 

Q. Thank you. 

A. Cervical refers t.o the neck. Lordosis is the 

configuration of the cervical spine. If you look at 

somebody from the side they have a gentle C shaped 

configuration to their neck. And trapezius is the 

muscle we're talking about. Spasm is a sustained 

contraction of a muscle, much like a charlie horse. 

Q. And you did riot find spasm when you examined 

her. 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Would you continue with your findings on 

examination, please? 

A. Yes. There were no areas of localized 

tenderness with palpation of the spinous processes, 

paracervical muscles, or trapezia. There was a full 

range of cervical flexion, extension, lateral rotation, 

and lateral bending. I examined her thoracic spine, or 

her mid back , and noted that there was an increase in 

the upper thoracic kyphosis. There was no evidence of 

spasm or localized tenderness and the peripheral pulses 

were palpable in all three positions. 
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Q. Can you explain those terrrs for us, please, 

Doctor? 

A. Sure. Thoracic spine refers to the midback. 

Kyphosis is a term that describes the configuration of 

the middle back. Its just the opposite of lordosis. 

That is to say, you have a C shaped configuration of 

your cervical spine, then you have a C shaped 

configuration pointing the other way of your thoracic 

spine. She had prominence of her thoracic kyphosis 

which is the way she was built. 

The peripheral pulses were palpable in all three 

positions. One of her complaints was that her right arm 

became numb. Her entire arm became numb. 

Q. Yes Sir. 

A. I'm hesitating because I'm going to say 

something and then you'll ask me to explain it so.... 

Q. Not necessari 1 y , Doctor. 

A. Oh, O k a y .  At any rate. one of the things that 

I wanted to rule out was whether she had a thoracic 

outlet syndrome. Now a thoracic outlet syndrome is a 

condition where there's compression on the vessels that 

go from the root of your neck down your arm. 

And some people who have this condition experience 

numbness in their arm depending upon what position 

their arm is in. In order to determine that she did not 
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have that condition, or to determine whether she had 

the condition, I checked her radial pulse in various 

positions, 

Q. Does that mean palpate, Doctor, when you feel 

for things? 

A. Right. Apply pressure, palpate. Simply 

stated, everything was normal. So she didn’t have a 

thoracic outlet syndrome as a cause for the numbness in 

her arm. 

Q .  Alright. I think your examination then moved 

on to the right shoulder. Is that correct, Sir? 

A. Yes. 

S Z .  Could you describe your findings, please. 

A. Yes. I noted that there was no evidence of 

atrophy or deformity. There was a well healed scar 

extending from the coracoid over the lateral aspect of 

the acromium. She indicated that she was,“ 

u n c o m f o r t a b l e  with the lightest of palpation in the 

area above and be low t h e  scar,” 

Q. ?alpation being a touching? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. And atrophy is a term that’s been used 

. . .  what is atrophy, Dr. Brooks? 
A. Atrophy is a wasting away of a muscle. When 

somebody has an atrophic muscle, the muscle mass is 
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smaller than it normally is. 

Q. Okay, and you did not find atrophy in the 

right shoulder of Mrs Brooks? 

A. Correct, (Voice Over) 

Mr Eenretta: Objection. 

Q. Can you continue with your findings then, 

please? 

A. Yes. The active range of motion in degrees of 

the right shoulder was abduction, 180, froward flexion, 

180, external rotation, 45, internal rotation, 2t12, 

horizonal flexion complete. 

She complained of pain with abduction beyond a 160 

degrees and forward flexion beyond 160 degrees. The 

apprehension and the impingement signs were negative 

and there was no evidence of glenal humeral laxity. On 

the left side she could internally rotate to T-8. 

Q. Perhaps you could describe f o r  the jury . . .  
as I understand it,Doctor, during this phase of the 

examination you were having her move her arm os move 

her s h o x l d e r .  Is that correct? 

A ,  Yes. I was asking h e r  actively to move her 

arms so that I could test the range of motion of her 

shoulder joint. 

Q. Okay, you refried to abduction,forward 

flexion, and a few other terms. Could you describe what 
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was b e i n g  d o n e  i n  t h e  c o u r s e  of  y o u r  e x a m i n a t i o n  when 

you w e r e  u s i n g  t h o s e  t e r m s ?  

A .  Yes.  

Q. A t e r r i S i e  q u e s t i o n .  I ' m  s o r r y ,  b u t  i t h i n k  

you know what  I ' m  a s k i n g .  Thank y o u .  

A .  I a s k e d  h e r  t o  b r i n g  h e r  arms away f r o m  t h e  

s i d e  o f  h e r  b o d y .  T h a t ' s  a b d u c t i o n .  So s h e  was a b l e  t o  

do  t h a t  n o r m a l l y  t o  a 1 8 0  d e g r e e s .  I a s k e d  h e r  t o  

p e r f o r m  f o r w a r d  f l e x i o n ,  wh ich  i s  r a i s i n g  h e r  arm up 

t h i s  w a y ,  She  was a b l e  t o  do t h a t  t o  a 1 8 0  d e g r e e s .  I 

a s k e d  h e r  t o  e x t e r n a l l y  r o t a t e  and  t h a t  was 4 5  d e g r e e s ,  

wh ich  i s  n o r m a l .  And s h e  c o u l d  d o  t h a t .  Asked h e r  t o  

i n t e r n a l l y  r o t a t e ,  r e a c h  b e h i n d  h e r  b a c k  a n d  s h e  had  

some l i m i t a t i o n  when s h e  d i d  t h a t .  

She c o u l d  o n l y  r e a c h  a s  f a r  a s  t h e  t w e l f t h  

t h o r a c i c  v e r t e b r a e  where  on t h e  o t h e r  s i d e  s h e  c o u l d  

r e a c h  t o  t h e  e i g h t h  t h o r a c i c  v e r t e b r a e .  So s h e  l a c k e d  

maybe t w o  i n c h e s  on t h e  r i g h t  s i d e  a s  opposed t o  the 

l e f t  s i d e ,  And t h e  l a s t  t h i n g  I a s k e d  her t o  do  was 

h o r i z o n t a l  f l e x i o n ,  wh ich  i s  b r i n g i n g  h e r  arm a c r o s s  i n  

f r o n t  of  h e r  body a n d  s h e  was a b l e  t o  d o  t h a t  n o r m a l l y .  

Q. Were any of t h e  f i n d i n g s .  . . i n  summary, were  

a n y  of t h o s e  f i n d i n g s  a b n o r m a l ?  

A .  Y e s ,  s h e  l a c k e d  a s l i g h t  b i t  of i n t e r n a l  

r o t a t i o n ,  t h e  a b i l i t y  t o  r e a c h  b e h i n d  h e r  b a c k .  



-.I 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

--  1 3  

13 

14 

15 

16 

1 7  

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

21 

Q. According to the report, Doctor, you  then 

conducted a neurological examination. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Could you. describe your findings in that 

regard? 

A .  Yes. I noted that she had symmetrical deep 

tendon reflexes, normal motor power, and normal sensory 

perception. 

Phalen sign was negative bilaterally. Tinel Sign 

was positive over the right cubital tunnel and the 

right carpal tunnel. 

When I noted those findings i asked whether she 

had undergone EMG and nerve conduction studies. She 

indicated that Chiropractor Leone had, "nerve tests 

performed in his office by another individual." She 

told me t k e y  demonstrated carpal tunnel in my wrist. 

She also t.old me she wore a brace for a period of time. 

Q. Doctor Srooks, I'd like to ask  you if you 

could summarize the terms that were used in this part 

of the exaxinaticn ; deep tendon reflexes, phalen sign, 

Tinel Sign, and t h e  other terms that y o u  used? 

A. Yes. The deep tendon reflexes are the things 

that I test with the little red rubber hammer. You 

know , your ref 1 exes. 

Normal motor power refers to the fact that her 
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muscle strength was normal. And her sensory perception, 

she had the ability to perceive or feel normally. 

Phalen's sign is a sign that we attempt to determine to 

see whether somebody has carpal tunnel syndrome. Its 

performed by asking the individual to acutely flex 

their wrist, hold them in this position for a period of 

time. Carpal tunnel is right under here, so that if you 

bring your wrist down in this position you're 

compressing or making narrower the carpal tunnel. 

If you have a problem with the median nerve in the 

carpal tunnel a patient will experience the same 

symptoms about which they complained, which wasn't a 

very good way of saying it. But when she gave her 

history she told me that she had numbness down her 

entire arm as well as in her thumb and her index 

finger. The thumb a n d  index finger are supplied by the 

median nerve which is the nerve that runs through the 

carpal t.a-c-ie9 . 
Phalen sign which is really the most sensitive 

sign for a carpal tunnel syndrome was normal. On the 

other hand, Tinel Sign, which is a tapping over the 

nerve, w a s  positive in that she coinplained of an 

electric like shock into her thurnb and index finger and 

it was also positive over the cubital tunnel which is 

at your elbow. Sort of like when you twang your funny 
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. b o n e ,  i f  y o 3  w i l l ,  a n d  you  g e t  t h a t  f e e l i n g  g o i n g  down, 

n o t  you r  thumb and  i n d e x  f i n g e r ,  b u t  y o u r  l i t t l e  and  

r i n g  f i n g e r .  

Q. A l r i g h t .  Did t h a t  c o m p l e t e  y o u r  n e u r o l o g i c a l  

e x ami n a t i on o f t h e  p a  t i e n  t ? 

A .  

8 .  

c o r r e c t ?  

A .  

Q. 

Brooks?  

A .  

Q. 

Yes .  

And n e u r o l o g i c a l  r e l a t e s  t o  n e r v e s ,  i s  t h a t  

C o r r e c t .  

Did you t h e n  examine  r a d i o g r a p h s  of M r s  

Yes. 

And I t h i n k  on r a d i o g r a p h s  . . .  a r e  t h e y  t h e  

f i l m s  t h a t  a r e  g e n e r a t e d  when x - r a y s  a r e  t a k e n ?  N o u l d  

t h a t  b e  r i g h t ?  

A .  s x a c t l y .  I t s  t h e  h a r d  c o p y .  

Q. Did you o b t a i n  new r a d i o g r a p h s  a t  t h e  t i m e  of 

y o u r  e x a m i n a t i o n ,  D o c t o r ?  

A .  Yes,  

Q. And d i d  you  a l s o  r e v i e w  r a d i o g r a p h s  t h a t  had 

b e e n  t a k e n  i n  t h e  p a s t  by o t h e r  p h y s i c i a n s  a n d  

h o s p i t a l s ?  

A .  Yes. 

Q. What we re  t h e  f i n d i n g s  on t h e  r a d i o g r a p h s  o f  

t h e  c e r v i c a l  s p i n e  t h a t  you r e v i e w e d ?  

- 
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I., . There was no evidence of fracture or 

dislocation. There was a congenital, that is present 

since birth, fusion of the C-2, C-3 elements, the 

second and third vertebral elements in the cervical 

spine. 

Q. Which is in the neck? 

A. In the neck, yes. 

Q. Did you examine radiographs of the right 

shoulder? 

A .  Y e s .  

Q. And what were your findings when you reviewed 

those, Doctor? 

A. There was evidence of fracture, dislocation, 

or degenerative change. 

Q. Now in addition to reviewing these 

radiographs and interviewing Mus B r o o k s ,  did you  also 

examine medical records from other doctors? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Could you tell us what records you reviewed 

and what of significance you found? 

A. Yes. I reviewed Dr Coleman’s office records 

for the period hetween I4ay 30,1991 and September 

22,1992, physical therapist Richardson’s record for 

August 31,1992. I reviewed the actual radiographs of 

the cervical spine in the right shoulder obtained on 
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Sep t embe r  23,1992, D r  K e n n e d y ' s  r e c o r d s  f o r  t h e  -per iod 

b e t w e e n  O c t o b e r  7,1992 and  F e b r u a r y  14,1994, t h e  

r e c o r d s  f ro in  B a r h e r t o n  C i t i z e n ' s  H o s p i t a l  f o r  t h e  

s u r g e r y  t h a t  was p e r f o r m e d  on F e b r u a r y  11,1993, D r  

K e n n e d y ' s  l e t t e r  of December 2,1993, h i s  l e t t e r  of 

March 2,1994, a r e c o r d  f rom B a r b e r t o n  C i t i z e n ' s  

H o s p i t a l  f o r  J u n e  1 , 1 9 9 3 ,  D r  R e i c h ' s  o f f i c e  r e c o r d  f o r  

t h e  p e r i o d  b e t w e e n  December 27,1993 a n d  F e b r u a r y  

1 , 1 9 9 4 , C h i r o p r a c t o r  L e o n e ' s  r e c o r d s  f o r  t h e  p e r i o d  

b e t w e e n  Augus t  26,1993 a n d  O c t o b e r  26,1993. And t h o s e  

were t h e  r e c o r d s  t h a t  I r e v i e w e d .  

Q. R e g a r d i n g  D r  C o l e m a n ' s  o f f i c e  r e c o r d ,  D o c t o r ,  

what  o f  s i g n i f i c a n c e  d i d  y o u  f i n d  t h e r e ?  

A .  S e v e r a l  t h i n g s .  I n o t e d  t h a t  h e  f i r s t .  

examinpd  !<cs S r o o s s  on O c t o b e r  25,1882, t e n  d a y s  a f t e r  

t h e  a c c i d e n t .  And h e  n o t e d  among o t h e r  t h i n g s  t h a t  s h e  

had  some t e n d e r n e s s  i n  her- low b a c k ,  t h a t  s h e  h a d  

t e n d e r n e s s  in h e r  r i g h t  t r a p e z i u s  m u s c l e ,  t h a t  h e r  

c e r v i c a l  s p i n e  was o k a y ,  and  t h a t  s h e  h a d  p a i n  when 

s t a n d i n g  on h e r  l e f t  l e g .  

h'e made t h e  d i a g n o s i s ,  neck  s t r a i n ,  lumbo 

s a c r a l  s t r a i n .  i no ted .  t h a t  when h.e r e e x a m i n e d  he r  on 

Sep t embe r  22,1992 s h e  had  o c c a s i o n a l  p a i n  i n  h e r  r i g h t  

arm and  s h e  had  t e n d e r n e s s  i n  t h e  r i g h t  t r a p e z i u s .  And 

i t  was i m p o r t a n t  o r  s i g n i f i c a n t  t o  m e  t h a t  d u r i n g  t h i s  
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period of time there was nothing to indicate that she 

ha.d act.ual right shoulder pain or limitation of right 

s hou 1 de  r rrio t i on. 

Q. Doctor, i think you indicated that Mrs Brooks 

saw Dr Coleman on August 25,1992, about ten days after 

the accident. Correct Sir? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And why is it significant that she had no 

actual right shoulder pain or limitation ten days after 

this car accizent? 

A. One of the areas we’re trying to determine is 

whether or not M r s  Brooks sustained a tear of her 

rotator cuff as a result of the accident of October 

15,1992. If she had  sustained an injury or a tear of 

her rotator cuff as a result of that accident . . .  
Q. The one in August of 1992? 

A. I’m sorry, August of 1992. August 15th of 

1992. 

Q. Correct Sir. Tharik y o u .  

A. My error. if she had sustained a t.ear of her 

rot.ator cuff as a result of the accident of August 

15th, 1.992 t h e n  she would have had symptoms referable 

to her right shoulder and limitation of right shoulder 

motion right after the accident. And those symptoms and 

physical findings would certainly have been present 
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when she went to see Dr Coleman ten days after the 

accident.. 

Q. You noted some findings from the records of 

therapist Richardson. Can you relate what you found 

that was in his records that you thought to be 

significant? 

A. Yes. Again, when she was examined by the 

therapist he noted that she had pain in the right 

cervical and dorsal area and that she was tender in the 

right trapezius and the left trapezius. And again, he 

was somebody who made a differentiation between the 

trapezius area as opposed to the shoulder area. And 

that of course is important when we're trying to 

determine where her injuries were. 

Q. Doctor, your report indicates that you 

reviewed radiographs that were obtained on September 

23,1992. That would he about five w e e k s  after this 

August 15,1992 c a r  accident and you compared them with 

those obtaified at the time that you examined Hrs 

Brooks. You xote there was no change. 

A. Yes. 

Q *  Is that significant at all in this case? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Why. 

A. If she had sustained, for example, a 
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s i g n i f i c a n t  i n j u r y  t o  h e r  c e r v i c a l  s p i n e  t h e n  o v e r  a . 

p e r i o d  of t i m e ,  which  was a p p r o x i m a t e l y  t w c )  y e a r s ,  t h e  

i n j u r y  i f  i t  had  b e e n ,  f o r  e x a m p l e ,  a s i g n i f i c a n t  d i s k  

i n j u r y  would h a v e  b e e n  m a n i f e s t  by c h a n g e s  i n  t h e  

r a d i o g r a p h s .  

C e r t a i n l y ,  i f  s h e  had  s u s t a i n e d  a s i g n i f i c a n t  i n j u r y  t o  

h e r  r i g h t  s h o u l d e r  i n  terms of any  k i n d  of bony i n j u r y  

t h a t  would h a v e  showed u p .  But t h e r e  was n o  c h a n g e  i n  

t h e  x - r a y s .  

Q. R e g a r d i n g  D r  Kennedy ' s  r e c o r d s ,  D r  a r o o k s ,  

wha t  of s i g n i f i c a n c e  d i d  you f i n d  t h e r e ?  

A .  H e  f i r s t  examined  h e r  two  mon ths  a f t e r  t h e  

a c c i d e n t .  A t  t h a t  t i m e  s h e  h a d ,  what  h e  s a i d  i s , "  

l o c a l i z e d  t h e  s h o u l d e r  p a i n  t o  t h e  t r a p e z i u s  a n d  t h e  

d e l t o i d . "  The d e l t o i d  i s  t h e  m u s c l e  t h a t  d o e s  now c o v e r  

o v e r  t h e  s h o u l d e r  j o i n t .  H e  s t a t e s  t h a t  t h e  who le  arm 

g o e s  numb, p a r t i c u l a r l y  when s h e  i s  g e t t i n g  u l t r a s o u n d .  

D e s c r i b e s  t h i s  i n  a s t o c k i n g  g l o v e  t y p e  f a s h i o n .  T h a t ' s  

a s i g n i f i c a n t  f i n d i n g  b e c a u s e  a s t o c k i n g  g l o v e  t y p e  

fashion 5 s  a k i n d  o f  numbness  t h a t  i s  c i r c u m f e r e n t i a l  

and  i t  i s  n o t  t h e  k i n d  o f  numbness  t h a t  g o e s  a l o n g  w i t h  

a n  i n j u r y  t o  any  p a r t i c u l a r  n e r v e  o r  a n  i n j u r y  t o  any 

p a r t i c u l a r  n e r v e  r o o t  i n  t h e  n e c k .  

Q. Thank you .  D o c t o r ,  I s e e  i n  y o u r  r e p o r t  f rom 

D r  Kennedy ' s  r e c o r d  t h a t  on J a n u a r y  2 5 , 1 9 9 3  D r  Kennedy 
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c l i n i c a l l y . "  What d o e s  t h a t  mean,  S i r ?  

A .  Wel l  t h a t  means t h a t ,  a n d  I assume D r  Kennedy 

i s  a n  o r t h o p e d i c  s u r g e o n ,  t h a t  p u t t i n g  M r s  B rooks  

t h r o u g h  v a r i o u s  maneuve r s  h e  f e l t  t h a t  t h e r e  was no  

c l i n i c a l  e v i d e n c e  of a r o t a t o r  c u f f  t e a r  i n  J a n u a r y  of 

1 9 9 3 ,  f i v e  months  a f t e r  t h e  a c c i d e n t .  

Q. Okay.  R e g a r d i n g  B a r b e r t o n  C i t i z e n ' s  H o s p i t a l  

r e c o r d s  and  a d d . i t i o n a 1  r e c o r d s  f r o m  Dr Kennedy,  d i d  you 

n o t e  any t . h ing  s i g n i f i c a n t  t h e r e  t h a t  we h a v e  n o t  y e t  

t a l k e d  a b o u t ?  

M r  H e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n .  

A .  Y e s .  I n o t e d  t h a t  h e  o p e r a t e d  on h e r  on 

F e b r u a r y  1 1 , 1 9 9 3  a:zd a t  t h a t  t i m e  h e  d i d  a p r o c e d u r e  

wh ich  h e  d e s c r i b e d .  a s  d e c o m p r e s s i o n  r i g h t  s h o u l d e r  w i t h  

a c r o m i a l p l a s t y  and  r e p a i r  of  r i g h t  r o t a t o r  c u f f .  And a t  

t h e  t i m e  of s u r g e r y  h e ,  " d i s c o v e r e d  a t h r e e  c e r i t i m e t e r  

l i n e a r  . tear  lsetween the r o t a t o r  c u f f  i n t e r v a l . "  

Q. D o c t o r ,  where  on y o u r  model would t h a t  b e  

l o c a t . e d ,  t h i s  r o t a t o r  c u f f  t e a r  t h a t  D r  Kennedy 

d i s c u s s e d ?  

A .  We;! I b e l i e v e  f rom what  h e  was d e s c r i b i n g  a s  

t h e  r o t a t o r  c u f f  i n t e r v a l ,  i t  o c c u r r e d  be tween  t h e  

s u b s c a p u l a r i s  and  t h e  s u p e r s p i n a t u s .  N o w  i t s  p o s s i b l e  

t h a t  h e  was r e f e r r i n g  t o  t h e  i n t e r v a l  be tween  t h e  

1 '  
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superspinatcs and the inferspinatus. That would have 

been a little bit more difficult but that's the best 

that I can determine. But it was a linear tear which is 

of importance that it extended in a line away from the 

edge of the shoulder. 

Q. Did you find anything significant, Dr Brooks, 

in the record you reviewed from Dr Leone, the 

chiropractic physician? 

A. Well he began treating her in August of 1993, 

which was approximately a year after the accident. 

Although in his letter he indicated he began treating 

her on September 26,1993 so I'm not quite sure why 

there was that discrepancy. 

One thing his records did contain is that there 

were some studies performed by Dr Saltis which 

indicated tkere were no indicators of significant ulnar 

neuropathy. The patient has evidence of rriild bilateral 

carpal tunnel syndrome and there were no signs of a 

root lesion. That's important . . .  I'm sorry. 
2 .  Root lesion being what,Doctor? 

A. A lesion that begins in your neck. 

Q. And why xas  that finding significant? 

A. Well all these findings . . .  remember she 
complainec! that h e r  whole arm went numb and that she 

had some numbness in her hand. P h e n  I examined her and 
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did a Tinel's test over hel r  cubital tunnel she had 

co1r.plaints into the ulnar side of her hand. He found 

that there was no evidence of significant problems with 

the ulnar nerve, the nerve that supplies these two 

fingers. 

He also found that she had a mild bilateral carpal 

tunnel syndrome which meant it was on both sides, okay. 

And when soinethiny occurs on both sides you can't 

relate it to an accident or an injury that 

theoretically involves only one side. I didn't say that 

very we1 1 .  

Mr Henretta: Move to 

strike. 

Dr lirooks: I would too. 

Q. - _  Meaning bilateral means the carpal tunnel, at 

least according to t.heese Zindings, was in both the 

rig-ht ar!d left wrist. Is that correct? 

A. Correct. That's right. 

Q. A n d  the surgery in this case was performed to 

the right shoulder. Is that c o r r e c t ?  

A. Yes. 

9 .  Alright, so let me zsk you this. Do you have 

an opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty 

Z S  to whether or r io t  and abnor-mal findings that. 

indicated a bilateral carpal tunnel were proximately 
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c a u s e d  by any  i n j u r y  s h e  s u s t a i n e d  i n  t h e  m o t o r  v e h i c l e  

a c c i d e n t  o f  Augus t  1 5 ,  1992? 

M r  H e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t .  

A .  Y e s ,  I h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n .  

Q. What is y o u r  o p i n i o n ?  

M r  H e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t  

A .  My o p i n i o n  i s  t h a t  t h e  b i l a t e r a l  c a r p a l  

t u n n e l  syndrome was n o t  c a u s e d  by t h e  a u t o m o b i l e  

a c c i d e n t .  

0. D o c t o r ,  I would l i k e  t o  a s k  you w h e t h e r  o r  

n o t  you h a v e  any  o p i n i o n s  i n  t h i s  c a s e .  The f i r s t  

q u e s t i o n  I would l i k e  t o  a s k  you i s ,  D r  B r o o k s ,  do  you 

h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n  a s  t o  w h e t h e r  or n o t  Nancy B r o o k s  

s u s t a i n e d  i n j u r y  i n  t h e  m o t o r  v e h i c l e  a c c i d e n t  i n  wh ich  

s h e  was i n v o l v e d  on Augus t  l i i , l S 9 2 ?  

A .  Yes ,  T h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n .  

& .  What i s  y o u r  o p i n i o n ,  S i r ?  

A .  I b e l i e v e  t h a t  s h e  s u s t a i n e d  a m i l d  c e r v i c a l  

a n d  l u m b o s a c r a l  s t r a i n .  

Q. Do you h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n ,  Dr Brooks, t o  a 

r e a s o n a b l e  d e g r e e  o f  m e d i c a l  c e r t a i n t y  a s  t o  w h e t h e r  o r  

n o t  Mrs Brooks  s u s t a i n e d  a t e a r  of  h e r  r o t a t o r  c u f f  i n  

t h e  r i g h t  shou!c?.er a s  a r e s u l t  of  t h e  m o t o r  v e h i c l e  

a c c i d e n t  on P,;;gust 1.5, 1912? 

A .  Y e s ,  I h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n .  
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+-.I MiAat  is y o ~ r  opinion? Q. 
A. i believe that she did not sxstain a tear of 

her rotator cuff as a result of the automobile 

a c c i d e ri t . 
1 2 .  Could you explain to the jury, please, the 

basis of that opinion? 

A. Y e s .  Sort of a suinmary of what we've been 

talking about. if she had sustained a tear of her 

rotator cuff as a result of the accident of August 

15,1992 she would have had symptoms and physical 

findings of that injury immediately following the 

injury, She sought no medical care for ten days after 

the injury. Ten days after the injury when she was 

examined she did not have any symptoms or physical 

findings that were indicative of a rotator cuff tear, 

They were indicative of a cervical strain. She was seen 

by a physical kherzpist who found the same findings, 

tenderness in her trapezia, nothing in her shoulder, no 

limitation of shoulder motion. 

She came under the care of Dr Kennedy 

approximately two months after the accident. At that 

time she did have some shoulder symptoms. She had been 

working as a waitress during that p e r i o d  of time. 

. - t i m a t e l y ,  in February of 1993, five months after the 

accident, he operated on her, not for a rotator cuff 

7 7 7  ' 
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t e a r  b u t  f o r  a n  i a p i n g e m e n t  s y n d r o m e . .  H e  d i d  a 

d e c o m p r e s s i o n  o f  h e r  s h o u l d e r ,  d i s c o v e r e d  a r o t a t o r  

c u f f  t e a r  a n d  r e p a i r e d  t h a t .  The k i n d  of r o t a t o r  c u f f  

t e a r  t h a t  h e  d i s c o v e r e d  i s  riot t h e  k i n d  t h a t  you g e t  

f r o m  a s i n g l e  i s o l a t e d  t r a u m a t i c  e v e n t .  

Q. Okay,  l e t  me a s k  you. t h i s  f i r s t .  of a l l .  You 

h a v e  r e v i e w e d  t h e  r e c o r d s  of D r  Kennedy and do you 

a g r e e  w i t h  him t h a t  h e  d i d  f i n d  a r o t a t o r  c u f f  t e a r  

when h e  o p e r a t e d ?  

A .  Y e s .  

9. What i s  t h e r e  a b o u t  t h a t  t e a r ,  t h a t  t y p e  of  

t e a r ,  t h e  l o c a t i o n  of t h e  t e a r  w h i c h  s u p p o r t s  y o u r  

o p i n i o n  t h a t  i t  was n o t  c a u s e d  by t h i s  m o t o r  v e h i c l e  

a c c i d e n t ?  

A .  T h i s  was  a l i n e a r  t e a r  e i t h e r  i n  t h e  i n t e r v a l  

be tween  t h e  s u b s c a 2 u l a r i s  and t h e  s u p e r s p i n a t u s  o r  

be tween  t h e  s u p e r s p i n a t u s  and t h e  i n f e r s p i n a t u s .  T h a t  Is 

what we r e f e r  t o  a s  a d e g e n e r a t i v e  t y p e  of t e a r .  

When you s u s t a i n  a t r a u m a t i c  t . e a r  or a t e a r  t h a t ' s  

a s  a r e s u l t  of a s i n g l e  i s o l a t e d  e v e n t  you u s u a l l y  t e a r  

i t  r i g h t  h e r e  f r o m  t h e . .  . i t s  i n s e r t i o n  on t h e  g r e a t e r  

t u b e r o s i t y .  So i t s  a C i f f e r e n t  p l a n e ,  d i f f e r e n t  

1 o c a t  i 09 , 2 t. f f e 1- ent ar-iy 1 e , 

9. Are  t h e r e  t h i n g s  o t h e r  t h a n  c a r  a c c i d e n t s  

t h a t  c a u s e  r o t a t o ?  c u f f  t.ez.rs? 
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Mr H e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n  

A .  S u r e .  

Q. And when you s a y  t h a t  d e g e n e r a t i o n  c a n  c a u s e  

a r o t a t o r  c u f f  t e a r ,  i s  t h a t  c o r r e c t ,  S i r ?  

A .  Yes.  

Q. O'kay, what do you mean by t h a t ?  

A .  Well w i t h  t h e  a c t i v i t i e s  of  d a i l y  l i v i n g  and  

w i t h  some a c t i v i t i e s  more t h a n  o t h e r s  t h e r e ' s  c h r o n i c  

impingement  on t h e  r o t a t o r  c u f f .  And o v e r  a p e r i o d  of  

time t h a t  impingement  c a u s e s  d e g e n e r a t i o n  o r  a w e a r i n g  

o u t  o f .  When s o m e t h i n g  i n  t h e  body wears o u t  i t  t e a r s .  

Q. D o c t o r ,  d o  you know f r o m  r e v i e w  of t h e s e  

r e c o r d s  t h a t  D r  Kennedy p e r f o r m e d  s u r g e r y  i n  F e b r u a r y  

of 1993 X r s  S r o o k s .  Do you h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n  t o  a 

r e a s o n a b l e  d e g r e e  o f  m e d i c a l  c e r t a i n t y  a s  t o  w h e t h e r  o r  

n o t  t h a t  s u r g e r y  was p r o x i m a t e l y  c a u s e d  by t h i s  mo to r  

v e h i c l e  a c c i d e n t  o c c u r r i n g  Augus t  15, 19927  

A .  Yes ,  I have  a n  o p i n i o n .  

Q. What i s  you r  o p i n i o n ,  S i r ?  

A .  I b e l i e v e  t.ha.t t h e  s u r g e r y  was n o t  

p r o x i m a t e l y  c a u s e d  b y  t h e  a u t o m o b i l e  a c c i d e n t .  

Q. And t h e  b a s i s  of  t -hat.  o p i n i o n ?  Would you  be 

r e p e a t i r i g  what y c ~ ' v e  z . l r e a d y  s a i d  t o  t h i s  p o i n t ,  

Mr H e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n .  

Asked t h a t  a c o u p l e  
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of t i m e s .  

I.lr Roche :  A l r i g h t .  F i n e ,  

t h e n  I ' l l  move a l o n g .  

Q. Zjoc fo r ,  I want you t o  a s sume  t h a t  t h e r e  h a s  

b e e n  t e s t i m o n y  f rom C h i r o p r a c t i c  P h y s i c i a n  Leone ,  t h a t  

h e  b e g x i  t o  t r e a t  Mrs  B r o o k s  o n  Augus t  2 6 , 1 9 9 3  a n d  

t h e r e a f t e r  f o r  what h e  d i a g n o s e d  a s  c e r v i c a l ,  do r s a ! ,  

a n d  lumbar  s p r a i n .  Have you r e v i e w e d  D r  L e o n e ' s  

r e c o r d s ?  

A .  Yes. 

Q. Do you h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n  to a r e a s o n a b l e  d e g r e e  

of m e d i c a l  c e r t a i n t y  a s  wfiet.her o r  r iot  t h e  t r e a t m e n t  

p rov id . ed  by  C h i r o p r a c t i c  P h y s i c i a n  Leone  was 

p r o x i m a t e l y  c a u s e d  by  t h e  m o t o r  v e h i c l e  a c c i d e n t  on 

Augus t  1 5 t h  of 1992? 

l 4 r  H e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n .  

A .  Y e s ,  I h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n .  

9 .  Khat  i s  y o u r  o p i n i o n ?  

!4r H e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n .  

- .  A .  I heiieve t h a t  t h e  t r e a t m e n t  wh ich  

C h i r o p r a c t i c  Physic iarL Leone p r o v i d e d  was n o t  

p r o x i m a t e l y  c a u s e d  b y  t h e  a u t o m o b i i e  a c c i d e n t  cf Augus t  

1 5  , 19S2. 

Q. I want y o u  t o  assume t h a t  Dr Leone h a s  

t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  he  !-:as b i l l e d  a p p r o x i m a t e l y  $ 1 , 7 0 0 . 0 0  
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f o r  t h e  s e r v i c e s  h e ' s  p r o v i d e d .  Do you h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n  

t o  a r e a s o n a b l e  d e g r e e  of m e d i c a l  c e r t a i n t y  a s  t o  

w h e t h e r  o r  n o t  t h a t  c o s t  i s  r e a s o n a b l e  a n d  n e c e s s a r y  

a n d  p r o x i m a t e l y  c a u s e d  by  t h e  m o t o r  v e h i c l e  a c c i d e n t  o f  

Augus t  15,1992? 

iJr E e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n .  

A .  I h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n .  

Q. What i s  y o u r  o p i n i o n ?  

M r  K e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n .  

A .  My o p i n i o n  i s  t h a t  t h o s e  c o s t s  a r e  n o t  

p r o x i m a t e l y  r e l a t e d  t o  t h e  a u t o m o b i l e  a c c i d e n t  a n d  were 

n o t  n e c e s s i t a t e d  by t5e a u t o m o b i l e  a c c i d e n t .  

Q. Cou ld  Y O U  e x p l a i n  t o  t h e  j u r y  t h e  b a s i s  f o r  

y o u r  o p i n i o n  r e g a r d i r i g  Dr L e o n e ' s  t r e a t m e n t  and  Dr 

L e o n e ' s  c o s t s ?  

!<r K e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n .  

A .  Yes.  I b e l i e v e  t h a t  Mrs Brooks  was i n j u r e d  i n  

the a u t o m o b i l e  a c c i d e n t .  I b e l i e v e  t h a t  s h e  s u s t a i n e d  a 

m i l d  c e r v i c a l  and  l u m b o s a c r a l  s t r a i n .  T h a t  k i n d  of 

i n j u r y  does  n o t  l a s t  a y e a r  and  t h e r e f o r e ,  any  

t r e a t m e n t  t h a t  s1.i~ r e c e i v e d  f rom t h e  c h i r o p r a c t o r  a 

y - a -  :q.Iie: t h e  a c c i d e n t  was u n r e l a t e d  to t k e  i n  j u r i e s  

t h a t  s h e  s u s t a i n e d  ~n t h e  a c c i d e n t .  

9 .  D o c t o r  Ex-ooks, d o  you h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n  a s  t o  

w h e t h e r  o r  n o t  t h e  i n j u r i e s  t h a t  Mrs Brooks  d i d  r e c e i v e  
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i n  t h i s  m o t o r  v e h i c l e  a c c i d e n t  a r e  p e r m a n e n t ?  

Mr: H e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n .  

A. I h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n ,  y e s .  

Q. What i s  y o u r  o p i n i o n ?  

M r  H e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n .  

A .  Her i n j u r i e s  a r e  n o t  p e r m a n e n t .  

Q. D o c t o r ,  do  you h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n  t o  a 

r e a s o n a b l e  d e g r e e  of  m e d i c a l  c e r t a i n t y  a s  t o  w h e t h e r  o r  

r iot  Mrs B r o o k s  was d i s a b l e d  a s  a r e s u l t  of t h e  i n j u r i e s  

t h a t  s h e  d i d  s u s t a i n  i n  t h e  m o t o r  v e h i c l e  a c c i d e n t  o f  

Augus t  1 5 ,  1992? 

"r X e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n .  

A .  Y e s ,  I h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n .  

& .  What i s  you r  o p i n i o n ?  

M r  H e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n .  

A ,  She  t o l d  m e  t h a t  s h e  was o f f  work f o r  two 

d a y s ,  I b e l i e v e ,  a f t e r  t h e  a c c i d e n t  and  t h a t  s o u n d s  

l i k e  a r e a s G n a b l e  t i m e  p e r i o d  o f  t i m e  f o r  t h e  i n j u r i e s  

t h a t  s h e  s u s t a i n e d .  

Q. I want  you t o  a s s u m e ,  D r  Brooks, t - h a t  1qx-s 

r ; ~ o o k s  i s  n o  l o ~ s - e r  d o i n g  t h e  t y p e  o f  work t h a t  she was 

d o i n g  a t  t .he t i m e  o f  t h i s  mo to r  v e h i c l e  a c c i d e n t .  Do 

you  have an o p i n i o n  t o  a r e a s o n a b l e  d e g r e e  of m e d i c a l  

c e r t a i n t y  a s  t o  w h e t h e r  o r  riot , i f  t h a t ' s '  t r u e ,  her 

i n a b i l i t y  t o  do  h e r  job i s  p r o x i m a t e l y  c a u s e d  by t h e  

- 
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n o t o r  v e h i c l e  a c c i d e n t  of  Augus t  1 5 , 1 9 9 2 ?  

M r  H e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n .  

Y e s ,  i h a v e  a n  o p i n i o n .  

wha t  i s  you r  o p i n i o n ,  D o c t o r  B rooks?  

M r  H e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n .  

A .  p/iy o p i n i o n  i s  t h a t  t h e  i n j u r i e s  t h a t  i 

b e l i e v e  s h e  s u s t a i n e d  i n  t h e  a u t o m o b i l e  a c c i d e n t  were 

n o t  of t h e  k i n d  o r  t h e  m a g n i t u d e  t o  h a v e  c a u s e d  h e r  t o  

h a v e  any  c h a n g e  i n  h e r  employment .  T h a t  i s  t o  s a y ,  

b e c a u s e  s h e  s u s t a i n e d  a r r , i ld  c e r v i c a l  a n d  l u m b o s a c r a l  

s t r a i n  I do  n o t  b e l i e v e  t h a t  s h e  would h a v e  had  t o  

c h a n g e  h e r  employment . 
Q. D o c t o r  Srooks, t h o s e  a r e  a l l  t h e  q u e s t i o n s  I 

have. Thank you  v e r y  much.  

A .  Your welcome,  

C r o s s  E x a m i n a t i o n  b y  Mr 5 e n r e t t a :  

0. D o c t o r ,  w e ' r e  s t i l l  i n  y o u r  o f f i c e ,  a r e n ' t  

w e ?  

A. Yes S i r .  

Q. We've Seen  off t h e  r e c o r d  f o r  a b o u t  t e n  

r i n u t e s  duricg which  time T l o o k e d  a t  y o u r  f i l e .  I s  

4- L....<,t 3- -L' cn: r e c t ?  

A .  You l o o k e d  a t  my f i l e .  Yes S i r .  

Q. Pas s o o n  a s  we went  o f f  t h e  r e c o r d  you t o l d  a 

l i t t l e  j o k e  :bout c h i r o p r a c t o r s .  I wonder  i f  you  c o u l d  
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s h a r e  t h a t  w i t h  t h e  j u r y ?  

lvlr Roche :  I ' l l  o b j e c t .  

A .  S u r e .  I ' d  b e  happy  t o .  I s a i d  . . .  I a s k e d  how 

rnany c h i r c p r a c t o r s  i t  t a k e s  t o  c h a n g e  a l i g h t  b u l b .  

Q. And was t h e r e  a n  answer  t o  t h a t  q u e s t i o n ?  

A. The answer  was ,  "I  d o n ' t  know."  

Q. Did you  p r o v i d e  a n  answer  t o  t h a t  q u e s t i o n ?  

A .  Yes. 

Q. What was t h e  a n s w e r  you p r o v i d e d ?  

A .  I t  t a k e s  one  t o  c h a n g e  t h e  l i g h t  bulb a n d  

t h i r t y - n i n e  t o  k e e p  r e a d j u s t i n g  i t .  

Q. Thank you. What t i m e  d i d  1k:r Roche a r r i v e  

t o d a y  t o  tal!.: t o  you  b e f o r e  y o u r  t e s t i m o n y  t o d a y ?  

A .  3 : 3 0 .  

Q. And d i d  y o u  t a l k  t o  him f o r  a h a l f  h o u r ?  

A .  

Q. What d i d  you d i s c u s s  w i t h  him? 

A .  Whether  h e  Lad a n i c e  T h a n k s g i v i n g ,  whether  I 

had  a n i c e  T h a n k s g i v i n g .  Who was a t  t h e  T h a n k s g i v i n g .  

Xow h i s  p r a c t i c e  was i n  Akron and  Nancy B r o o k s .  

Q. ?ow much t i m e  d i d  you s p e n d  on Nancy Brooks?  

A .  i d o n ' t  hnow, s i - .  

Q. The f i l e  t h a t  you  showed m e  t o d a y ,  i s  t h a t  

t h e  e n t i r e  f i l e  y o u  m a i n t a i n  h e r e  in y o u r  office on 

Fa:icy !?rooks (I 

Ap2r oxima t e 1 y . 
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A .  I'm sorry. r don't understand your question. 

Q. Yell you have a file that I've just reviewed. 

Is that all of the documentation that you maintain here 

in the office on Nancy Brooks? O r  are there some other 

papers? 

A .  I've returned to Mr Roche the records that I 

reviewed. 

Q. Okay. That's what I'm saying. A l l  you have 

retained is what is here today. 

A .  Y e s  (I 

Q. You don't have any documents at home? 

A. No. 

Q. Now you saw Nancy Brooks on one occasion. Is 

that right, Doctor? 

A .  Yes Sir. 

Q. And for how :mch time? 30 you recall? 

A. No Sir. 

0. A couple of hours, you t h i n k ?  

A. I don't recall how long it took me to take a 

history a z d  perfom t h e  physical examination. 

Q u  30 you h a v e  an idea of how much time you 

Ylorilally s p e n d  \,~l-iat b e  c ? ! !  a c l . l e f e ~ ~ e  l - , c d i c a l  

examinatson? ii'hat I mean by defense medical is when 

you've been a s k e d  to give an opinion o n  a ?articular 

case by a 2 e f e n s e  lawyer such as Mr Roche. By the way, 
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h i s  o f f i c e  p a i d  you f o r  y o u r  t i m e  i n  t h i s  c a s e  o r  w i l l  

pay  you? 

A ,  T h a t ' s  c o r r e c t .  

Q. Now i s n ' t  i t  t r u e  t h a t  you  s p e n d  maybe a 

c o u p l e  of h o u r s  on e a c h  c a s e .  And what  I mean,  I d o n ' t  

mean i n  i n t e r v i e w i n g  t h e  p a t i e n t .  I mean by t h e  t i m e  

you g e t  t h e  r e f e r r a l  f r o m  t h e  d e f e n s e  f i r m ,  o r  t h e  

company,  or t h e  i n s u r a n c e  company, w h a t e v e r  t h e  c a s e  

may b e . .  . . 
M r  Roche :  I'll o b j e c t  

Q. . . , . y o u  s p e n d  a p p r o x i m a t e l y  two h o u r s  i n  

t a k i n g  a h i s t - o r y ,  c o n d u c t i n g  a p h y s i c a l  e x a m i n a t i o n ,  

t a k i n g  x - r a y s ,  and  r e v i e w i n g  t h e  x-rays o r  any  o t h e r  

d i a g n o s t i c  t e s t s ,  r e v i e w i n g  a l l  of t h e  m a t e r i a l s  , and  

p r o v i d i n g  a w r i t t e n  r e p o r t .  W o u l d n ' t  you s a y  t h a t ' s  

n o r m a l l y  aboilt two hours on a n  a v e r a g e ?  

A .  I would s a y  t h a t  i t  v a r i e s  f r o m  c a s e  t o  

c a s e , t h a t  I d o n ' t  k e e p  t r a c k  of t h o s e  t h i n g s ,  a n d  s o  I 

d o n ' t  know what t h e  a v e r a g e  i s .  

9 .  Now you've beer,  a s k e d  t h a t  q u e s t i o n  b e f o r e ,  I 

b e l i e v e ,  h a v e n ' t  y o u , D o c t o r ?  Sound f a m i l i a r ,  t.he 

: .question I j u s t  a s k e d  you a b o u t  t i m e ?  

A .  A 1 1  y o u  p l a i n t i f f  a t t o r n e y s  a s k  t h e  s a n e  

r- , , , - , t i o n s f  . L> C' 

Q. But  y o u ' v e  been a s k e d  t h a t  q u e s t i o n  b e f o r e ,  
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haven't you? 

A. That's what I just said. I mean nobody's 

original. They all ask the same questions. 

Q. Let. me refer you to a case. This Is an old 

one. this is back in 1989. You remember Mr Hawal, Bill 

Hawal? 

A. I know who I4r Hawal is, yes. 

Q. You and he were in a trial together hack in 

Eecember 13,1989. At that time the Plaintiff's name was 

31izabetl-i 14. V o l p i n  and the Defendant's name was Robert 

T. Balata. Do you recall that case? 

3 .  Yes, I recall that case. 

Q. Mr Hawal asked you this question. Of course 

he was referring to the particular patient. "HOW long 

do you think it took you if you were to estimate to 

review all of the records that you had in this case and 

examined the patient at that t.ime and prepared your 

reports, your best estimate?'' "Best estimate", your 

mswer," proSably t o o k  me somewhere between a half hour 

and forty-five ininutes to obtain her history and 

exzxir ie  her. The records took a couple of hours, 

perhaps comewhere ?,etween a total of three ho~rs, h u t  

that's really just an estimate." Do you recall making 

t 11 a t s t a t e in e n t ? 

Mr Roche: Well I'll 
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object. As counsel pointed 

out that's a different 

patient, a different set 

of records , different 

circumstances. 

A. And no, I don't recall making that statement. 

Q. How many such examinations . . .  let's get to 
it.. . S o  you perform in a week? Now you know which oiies 

I'm talking about. I'm not talking about your patients. 

U a n c y  Brooks was nct one of your patients, correct? 

A. How about if you ask me one question at a 

tixie and I'll be happy to answer one question. 

Q. Was Naxcy Brooks a patient of yours? 

A. No I 

Q. Now how many examinations do you perform in a 

week on individuals who are not your patierits? 

A. On behalf of the defense. 

Q. On behalf of defense or on behalf of the 

I ridus t r i a 1 C ommi s s i on , Bur e au of 14 or k e r ' s C omp ens at i on , 

c;r on behalf of zn enployer, or on behalf of 21-1 

insurance c ompazy ? 

A. I examine in an average week three patients 

on behalf of i? dcfendmt. At the present time I 'm  

probably examining one to two patients a week or1 behalf 

of an employer. 
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Q *  Do you have a standard, you know, hourly rate 

for those examinations? 

A. 

Q. 

Mr Roche: Objection 

( E O  audible response from Dr Brooks) 

Q. And whst is it? 

Mr Roche: Object. 

$ 350,OO an hour. 

DO YOU know what your rate was in 1988? 

Mr Roche: A continuing 

objection to the amouiits 

that the Doctor charges. I 

won't interrupt you o ~ i  the 

subject again. 

Q. Do I know what it was in 1988? I don't recall 

what it is in 1988. 

A. Would it be fair to say it was about $ 225.00 

an hour or $ 250.00 an hour? 

A. I don't know bu t  you can probably lor ,k  it ;-lp 

in the transcript of the trial and tell me what I said 

in 1988. 

Q. --.5i- s what y o 2  said. Tliat's what YOU said. I 

mean, h a v e  y o c r  rates gone up since 1988? 

A .  Yes, so h a s  r ;y  rent, my malpractice, my food 

Sill, and everything else. 

Q. So currently your charging how much an hour? 

rnl. - +  1 
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A .  $ 3 5 0 . 0 0  a n  h o u r  l i k e  I do  f o r  a l l  m e d i c a l  

s e r v i c e s .  

Q. Now d o e s  t h a t  i n c l u d e  t h e  t i m e  s p e n t  t o d a y ?  

I s  i t  t h e  same h o u r l y  r a t e  for g i v i n g  t e s t i m o n y  a s  i t  

i s  f o r  w r i t i n g  a r e p o r t  and  e x a m i n i n g  p e o p l e ?  

A .  No,  d e p o s i t i o n s  t i m e  i s  more  . . .  i s  a l a r g e r  

c h a r g e  for de2osition t i m e .  

Q. And what i s  t h a t , D o c t o r ?  

I.lr Roche :  O b j e c t i o n .  

A .  $ 4 5 0 . 0 0  an  h o u r .  

Q. Do you  know how many d e p o s i t i o n s  f i a t  you 

g i v e  i n  a week? 

L A .  a No. 

Q. Month? 

A .  No. 

Q. I n  a y e a r ?  

A .  No. 

Q. You h a v e  g i v e n  a number of d e p o s i t i o n s  

i n  . . .  s i n c e  1977  o r  7 8 ,  however  l o n g  you've b e e n  d o i n g  

t h e s e .  s ' ou ' ve  t e s t i f i e d  a number of  t imes h a v e  y o u  n o t ?  

A .  Yes .  

Q. More t h a n  t e n  t imes?  

A .  S i n c e  1977?  

Q. Y e s .  

A .  Almos t  t w e n t y  y e a r s ,  y e s .  
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Q. Do yc.u have an estimate of how many you do in 

a particular year? 

A .  You just asked me that. I said I don't. 

Q. Do you have a minimum charge for your 

testimony? 

Mr Foche: Object. 

A ,  Y e s ,  I reserve two hours of time. SO the 

minimum charge for my testimony would be $ 900.00 for 

the first two hours or any part thereof. 

Q. Doctor, you'll agree that N a n c y  Eroolss 

complained of right shoulder pain. 

A. When? 

Q. 1992, 1993, 1994. 

A. I will agree that she complained of shoulder pain 

when she went to see D r  Kennedy in 1992, yes. 

Q. Well did she complain of shoulder pain when 

she went to see Dr Coleman? 

A .  No * 

Q. Didn't D r  Coleman's cotes indicate complaints 

of right trapezius? 

A. Yes,  ard I explained earlier why that's n a t  

shoulder pain. 

9. Well f c r  xe and for those of us that dozi't 

nnderstand anatomy as well as you do, isn't right 

t r z p e z i u s  a l a r g e  muscle which moves the shoulder in 
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different directions? ' 

A. No. 

Q. What does it do as far as a muscle? 

A. The trapezius covers the scapula, the 

shoulder blade. It has nothing to do with moving the 

shoalder joint, per se. 

Q. Okay, the definition I read is incorrect? I 

read a definition that said that said the right 

trapezius is a large muscle which moves the shoulder in 

various ways. Now it was not a medical definition in a 

medical dictionary. It was in Studman's. i t  was written 

for people like me that don't understand anatomy. So I 

guess that would be a wrong definition. 

A. The definition, Sir, that you just gave me is 

not a correct medical definition. 

Q. Does the trapezius muscle move any part of 

the shoulder? 

A. It may move  a portion of the scapula, okay, 

but it doesn't move the shoulder joint, per s e .  

Q. Per se. Whiirl's that mean, per se? 

A .  What does that mean, per se. I mean in 

actuality . . . .  
Q. Does it move it at all? 

A. . * . i n  actuality. ?.ight, in actuality. 

& .  Do you know D r  Kennedy? 
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are certain risks that are associated with a surgery 

such as the one Dr Kennedy performed? 

A. You've referred to me as Doc about five 

times . 
Q. I'm sorry. I'n r iot  xeaning to do that, 

3octor. I'm sorry. 

A .  And you know you took offense about my joke 

about the chiropractor. Well you must not think very 

much about doctors. 

Q. Doctor, I think I ' m  speaking fast. I don't 

mean to be calling you Doc and I'm sorry if that's what 

you're hearing. You do agree that there are certain 

risks associated with surgery like the acromialplasty. 

T - cL,: -..-nk. I ' m  pronouncing it right, that Nancy Erooks had 

performed by El- Kemedy? 

A. Y e s ,  

Q. Ar,d what would those risks be? 

A. They're the risks of any surgery that's 

pezfor:i:ed u5der general anesthetic, death, luzg 

collapse. They're the risks that are associated with 

any surgery which are infection and there are the 

particular risks that are associated with shoulder 

~ . a r ~ e : y  w5ich would he not curing the problem, cot 

relieving the problem. And there are the risks of nerve 

injury, vessel injury. 
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Q. I s  i t  n o r n a l  p r o c e d u r e  f o r  t h e  p h y s i c i a n  t o  

e x p l a i n  t h o s e  t o  t h e  p a t i e n t ?  

._ D . Yes S i r .  I t s  normal  and  i f  h e  d o e s n ' t  you 

p r o S a h l y  would h a v e  a l o t  more c l i e n t s .  

Q. I d o n ' t  d o  m e d i c a l  m a l p r a c t i c e  i f  t h a t ' s  what  

y o u ' r e  s u g g e s t i n g .  

A .  R i g h t .  Well t h a t ' s  what  t h i s  s o u n d s  l i k e ,  z n  

i n q u i r y  i n t o  m e d i c a l  m a l p r a c t i c e .  

Q. I mean,  i f  D r  Kennedy was d o i n g  h i s  j o b  h e  

would h a v e  explaized t o  h e r  t h e  r i s k s ,  o r  a n  

a n e s t h e s i o l o g i s t ,  o r  somebody would h a v e  done  t h a t ;  

c o r r e c t ?  

A .  I b e l i e v e  s o .  

Q. Okay.  I n  tLe h i s t o z y  t h a t  s h e  g a v e  y o u ,  

Zoctor, s h e  i n d i c a t e d  t h a t  s h e  p u s h e d  b o t h  h e r s e l f  b a c k  

i n  t h e  s e a t  w i t h  b o t h  h a n d s  a t  t h e  t i m e  of t h e  c r a s h .  

A .  Y e s .  

Q. A r c ?  t h e n  y o u ' l l  a g r e e ,  I t h i n k  y o u  s a i d  t h i s ,  

t h a t  w i t h i n  o n e  week o f  t h e  c r a s h  s h e  SBW D r  Coleman 

a d  r o m p l z i n e d  ~2 p a i n  i n  t h e  u p p e r  a s p e c t  of h e r  r i g h t  

s h o u l d e r .  

A .  Ten d a y s .  

2. Y O U  d o n ' t  know W ~ F ~ ~ P Y  01' n o t  she wzs 

s u f f e r i n g  skcul2er p a i n  c lu r ing  t h a t  t e n  d a y  p e r i o d ,  do  

you? 
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anterior front of her shoulder extending from the 

clavicle to the outer aspect of the achromia. 

Q. And how long was the scar, Doctor? 

A. r don't know. I didn't rrreasure it. 

Q. Was it visible from we call a conversational 

distance? 

A. I'm not trying to give you a hard time. I 

only looked at it as an orthopedic surgeon. Okay. When 

I was taking her history it wasn't visible because she 

was dressed. 

Q. I understand. 

A. Okay, so I don't know. You know, it depends 

what she would be wearing during this conversation, I 

guess .  

Q. Your report doesn't mention anything about 

thoracic outlet Syndrome. At least I didn't see it in 

reviewing it. And today you spent a little bit of time 

in your testimony discussing thoracic outlet syndrome. 

And as I understand that in a very, again this is my 

nonanatomical way of expressing it is the thoracic 

outlet syndrome is a compression of, I've been told, 

the subclavian artery and the first rib. Is that a fair 

statement? 

A. Yes. 

You mentioned it today. Is there any reason Q. 
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. why it wasn’t included in your report? There’s no 

reference to it in your report. 

A. Well there is a reference to it, you see. Its 

just you have to dig deep to get it there. The reason 

we discussed it today was that Mrs Brooks had a certain 

s e t  of symptoms. As a physician I felt that it 

incumbent upon me to try to determine why she still had 

the symptoms that she had even having undergone surgery 

for a certain condition. 

One of the things that her history was suggestive 

13.j.t not diagnostic of was thoracic outlet syndrome. I 

did the appropriate tests for thoracic outlet syndrome. 

It was rigkt there in black and white. It said her 

peripheral pulses were palpable in all tkree positions. 

Q. “‘rank you Dcctor. The limitation, I believe 

in your zepol-t indicated she complained of pain with 

abduction. Now abduction is a term.. .is that moving 

away f r c z  t h e  boc?y? 

T i .  Yes. 

Q. Alright, and there was some limitatioll in 

that. Is that correct? 

A. EO. 

Q. O h ,  ckay. You said she co:nplained of pain 

iqith abd1:ction beyond 150 degrees. 

A. Yes. 
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I s  t h a t  a normal  f i n d i n g ?  

N O .  

Okay.  The a r e a  t h a t  w e ' r e  t a l k i n g  a b o u t ,  i s  

i n  and  a b o u t  h e r  r i g h t  s h o u l d e r ?  

Yes.  

Do you a g r e e , D o c t o r ,  t h a t  i n  t h e  h i s t o r y  t h a t  

s h e  g a v e  you a n d  t h e  r e c o r d s  t h a t  you saw t h a t  s h e  

showed no  symptoms t o  h e r  r i g h t  s h o u l d e r  c l i n i c a l l y ,  o r  

w i t h i n  t h e  r e c o r d s ,  o r  t h r o u g h  h i s t o r y  p r i o r  t o  t h e  

c r a s h  o f  Augus t  15,1992? 

A .  Yes. 

Q. And t h a t  s h e  i n d i c a t e d  a n d  t h e r e  was n o t h i n g  

c o n t r a r y  t o  i n d i c a t e  t h a t  s h e  was i n v o l v e d  i n  a n y  p r i o r  

m o t o r  v e h i c l e  c r z s h e s ?  

A .  T h a t ' s  c o r r e c t .  

0. Ar-d a l s o  i t s  f a i r  t h a t  she, f r o m  t h e  

i n f o r r n a t i c n  t h a t  yo-J s a w ,  t h a t  s h e  was i n v o l v e d  i n  no  

s-&sequent c a r  c ~ a s h c s .  I n  o t h e r  w o r d s ,  a f t e r  Avgus t  

1, 1 9 9 2  and  b e f c r e  you saw t e r ?  

A .  C o r r e c t .  

Q. D o c t o r ,  I want  t o  show you  what  has b e e n  

~ ~ . r l c e ? .  a s  P l a i n t i f f ' s  " s x h l b l t  O n e  a n d  a s k  you i f  you 

c o u l d  . . .I'll shcw i t  t o  y c u r  ico. jnsel f i r s t . ,  . i f  you 

A .  Thank you  c o u n s e l  o r .  
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D o c t o r ' s  c o u n s e l .  I t h i n k  

t h a t ' s  o b v i o u s ,  b u t  I ' v e  

handed  him t h e  p i e c e  of 

p a p e r .  

M r  H e n r e t t a :  Thank y o u .  

A .  I h a v e  i t .  Y e s  S i r .  

I n  f a c t  you r e f e r r e d  t o  t h a t  i n  y o u r  summary Q. 
r e p o r t  t h a t  you p r o v i d e d  M r  Roche d a t e d  O c t o b e r  

I9,1994. 

A .  Y e s ,  

%ow were t h e r e  o t h e r  r e c o r d s  o f ,  I g u e s s  h i s  Q. 
name i s  R i c h a r d s o n ,  t h e  p h y s i c a l  t h e r a p i s t .  Were t h e r e  

o t h e r  r e c o r d s  f r om p h y s i c a l  t h e r a p y  p r o g r e s s  n o t e s  t h a t  

you r e v i e w e d  o r  i s  t h a t  t h e  o n l y  document  you  r e v i e w e d  

r e g a r d i c g  p h y s i c a l  t h e r a p y ?  

A .  I d o n ' t  h a v e  any  r e c o l l e c t i o n  of a l l  t h e  

p h y s i c a l  t h e r a p y  r e c o r d s  t h a t  I r e v i e w e d .  

0. Okay,  I want t o  show you w h a t ' s  b e e n  marked  

as P l a i n t i f f ' s  E x h i b i t  Number T h r e e  a n d  ask y o u  i f  y o u  

c a : ~  i d e n t i f y  t h a t ?  

A .  Y e s ,  t h i s  i s  what I r e f e r  t o  a s  an  i n t a k e  

s!;eet. T47k.;n I  et a r e q u e s t  frorn a p l a i n t i f f ' s  

a t t o r n e y ,  C?.efense a t t o r n e y  t o  g e i f o r m  a n  e x a m i n a t i o n  I 

l o o k  a t  t l ? e i r  l e t t e r  and t h e n  d e t e r m i n e  what r e c o r d s  
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that I need from t h a t  individual, what x-rays, in order 

to perforrn an adequate assessment of the indivi2ual. 

Q. I noticed your report refers to your 

reviewing physical therapy records su t I don't see it 
on there. Is there an indication that you reviewed the 

physical therapy records 

rii;ht in front of you. 

that do c Emen t that 1 7  ou have 

A. This document doesn't say what I reviewed. 

Its what I wouZd like t3 review. Sometimes people send 

ne additional stuff anc? apparently the physical therapy 

records were there. They were the additional records. 

Q. well  you c ? o n ' t  recall if you reviewed all of 

the physical therzpy recor?s, do you, as you sit here 

tcday? 

PA . You asked me that five minutes ago and I s a i d  

I don't recall what p h y s i c a l  therapy records I 

i - e v i  exed . 
n % *  3zt j7ou recall reviewing the type written one 

that I shclcec?. yo-J as Plaintiff's Exhibit Number One 

c?on ' t  yo t l  ? 

3 . Y e s ,  I referred to that. 

2 .  cI:sy. I war-t to ~ 5 ' s ~  ;70- what's keen marked 

2s  Plzintiff's Exhibit Nuxber T w o ,  I ask you whether 

you cay  ~dentify that o r  tell vs whether o r  not you've 

seen those records before? 
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A .  I t  s a y s ,  " P h y s i c a l  t h e r a p y  p r o g r e s s  n o t ? s ,  

B a r b e r t o n  C i t i z e n  I J o s p i t a l  , Augus t  3 1 , 1 ? 9 2  t h r o u g h  

November 2 0 , 1 9 9 2 .  " 

Q. Have y3u s e e n  t h o s e  b e f o r e ?  

A .  I t s  b e e n  h i g h l i g h t e d  by someoiie.  I d o n ' t  

b e l i e v e  t h o s e  a r e  my h i g h l i g h t s  a n d  I d o n ' t  h o n e s t l y  

r e c a l l  w'?etl?er I ' v e  s e e n  t h e s e  b e f o r e  o r  n o t .  I d o n ' t  

h a v e  any i n d e p e n d e n t  r e c o l l e c t i o n .  

Q. Okay,  1'6 l i k e  t o  go o v e r  some o f  t h o s e  i t e m s  

o n  t h e r e  i f  we c o u l d ,  D o c t o r .  

A .  I ' d  be kappy  t o .  

Q. On 9 / 9 / 9 2 ,  now t h a t  may b e  t h e  s e c o n d  s h e e t  

t h a t  you h a v e  t h e r e .  

A .  Y e s .  

Q. Well ,  D o c t o r ,  excuse  me. L e t  me g o  b a c k  t o  

t h e  f i r s t  p a g e .  9 / 1 / 9 2 ,  t h a t  would b e  Sep t embe r  1 , 1 9 9 2 .  

C n  t h a t  c o t e  t h e r e  i s  a c o m p l a i n t  o f  . . .  i s  t h e r e  not? 

"!?isht 'Jpper t r a p  r e g i o n " ,  i t  says? I t  w o u l d  be  t c w a r . ?  

t h e  rr.i23le o f  t h e  p a g e .  

A .  I t s  n o t  a c o m p l a i n t .  

2 .  T k e ~ e ' ~  a r e f e u e f i c e  on t h a t  documen t ,  i s  

t h e r e  n ; t ,  t h a t  . . .  
A .  Yes.  

Q. 
and  r i g h t  u p p e r  t r a p  r e g i o n . "  I g u e s s  t h a t  means  

i t  says, 'I x o s t  s e n s i t i v e  t o  l e f t  h i p  r e g i o n  



5 9  

t r a p e z i u s .  

A .  T h a t ' s  c o r r e c t .  

3 Q. Then t h e  n e x t  p a g e  o n  S e p t e m b e r  9 t h  t h e r e ' s  a 

r e f e r e n c e  t o  s h o u l d e r  . . .  t o  " r i g h t  s h o u l d e r - s c a p u l a -  4 

ti 

6 

xpper t r a p  r e g i o n " ,  i s  t h e r e  n o t ?  

A .  Yes .  

7 Q. And on t h e  b o t t o m  o f  t h a t  p a g e  on O c t o b e r  

a 1 9 , 1 9 9 2  t h e r e ' s  a . . . a n d  i t s  i n  d i f f e r e n t  h a n d w r i t i n g .  

9 

1 0  

Are  you w i t h  m e  o n  t h a t  o n e , D o c t o r ?  

A .  Yes S i r .  

11 Q. I t s  s a y s ,  " D r  Kennedy" I t h i n k .  . . I r e a d  t h a t  

a s ,  I' f e e l s " .  I d o n ' t  know. Maybe you  can t e l l  me what 

you t h i n k  i t  s a y s .  I' D r  Kennedy f e e l s  t h a t  t h e  p a t i e n t  

- L _  1 3  

13 

14 was e x p e r i e n c i n g  r i g h t  r o t a t o r  c u f f  t e n d i n i t i s . "  I s  

t h a t  how you r e a d  t h a t ,  D o c t o r ?  15 

16 A .  " D r  Kennedy" , s o m e t h i n g .  . " t h e  p a t i e n t  was 

e x p e - i e - c i n g  r i g h t  r o t a t o r  c u f f  t e n d i n i t i s  . I t  1 7  

Q. Now t h e  n e x t  p a g e ,  D o c t o r ,  o n  t h e  t o p  n c t e  

1 9  vl- ich is I gxess 1 1 / 1 1 / 9 2 .  T h e r e ' s  a r e f e r e n c e  t o  r i g h t  

2 0  s h o u l d e r  r e g i o n  c r  s h o u l i ? e r  r e g i o n .  

2 1  

31 
L L  

2 3  

Q. Y e s ,  a b o u t  h a l f  way down whe re  i t  s a y s  " 

I .E. S .  " 

Yes. 

And t h e n  a l s o  on 11/20/92 t h e  n o t e  s a y s ,  and  

2 4  

2 5  P .  
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I guess this is probably from the patient because 

there's quotes around it. " Its hurting today. I've 

been moving. " 

A. Closed quotes. 

Q. Right, closed quotes. Then it says," 

reporting pain to both L-S" and that would be low back 

or lumbosacral areallow back and right shoulder 

region.1~ that correct? 

A. Yes Sir. That's what it says. 

Q. Also on ...y ou have a note there for O c t o b e r  

2lst,Doctor? 

A .  October 21st of 1992? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay, is there a complaint there about 

numbness and tingling and pain to the right shoulder? 

A. yes. 

Q. Thank you Doctor. 

A. You're welcome. 

Q. Could you explain f o r  us the procedure that's 

involved in an acromialplasty? 

A .  Y e s .  Plasty,like a plastic surgeon. With an 

acromialplasty. . .  
Q. Does that mean repair,Doctor, in 

general.. .plasty? 
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A. No. It means. ..I really don't know what the 

Latin definition of plasty is, but its not a repair. 

That's the key thing. When you do an acromialplasty you 

remove a portion of the acromium. 

Q. What is the acromium? 

A. The acromium is this part of the scapula that 

extends in this area and joins with the collar bone or 

the clavicle. 

Q. Is that surgery normally done under some type 

of anesthetic? 

A. Yes, as we discussed earlier. 

Q. Did the surgical notes you saw reflect the 

type of anesthesia that was used in this case by Dr 

Kennedy? 

A. I don't have any independent recollection. 

I'd be happy to look at the operative record if you 

want me to. 

(Off Record and Return) 

Q. Have you performed this procedure, Doctor? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What are the types of anesthesia that are 

available to a patient? 

A. General anesthetic. Occasionally its done 

under what's referred to as a super clavicular or 

scalene b l  ock. 
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Q. Is that up to the patient or is there one you 

usually recommend? 

A. Well it a combined assessment by the 

physician, the patient, and the anesthesiologist. 

Q. In Nancy Brooks' case, do you believe that 

her condition was painful, that which necessitated the 

surgery? 

A .  Yes. 

Q. It was a painful condition. What is meant by 

this term? In your note to . . .  or your letter to Mr 
Roche, the October 19, 1994 letter, your report, you 

stated this. "Mrs Brooks continued to have right 

shoulder symptoms and on May 24,93 Dr Kennedy's 

impression was S-P acromial decompression, rotator cuff 

repair, chronic pain, reflex sympathetic dystrophy." 

What is meant by that abbreviation,"S-P"? 

A .  Status Post. Its already happened. 

Q. Already happened, okay. Do you disagree with 

his particular finding in that sentence? 

A. I don't have enough information to agree or 

disagree whether she had reflex sympathetic dystrophy. 

&. Doctor, the diagnostic tests that you 

performed when you saw Nancy Brooks, was that limited 

to x-ray? 

?A 6 Yes. 
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Q -  . And I guess the x-rays, from what I could 

read from your report, revealed no objective findings. 

Or your conclusion was from reading the x-rays that 

there were no objective findings on physical or 

radiographic examination to substantiate her complaint. 

I believe that was your.. 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Now you're not suggesting that just because 

an x-ray didn't give you an objective sign that a 

patient couldn't be in pain, are you? 

A. No. 

Q. I mean, one could be in pain and an x-ray 

would be negative, right? 

A. Correct. 

Q. You didn't perform an arthrogram 

bid you, Doctor? 

A .  Did I? 

Q. An arthrogram. 

A. No Sir. 

Q. You were, again, hired by Mr Roche's office 

to make a determination in your opinion whether or not 

her injuries were caused by the car crash, among other 

things, 

A. Among other things. 

Q. Would you say most of the work that you do in 
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this area would be for defense firms rather than for 

plaintiffs, over half? 

A. Over half? Yea, I would say over half. I 

don't know that its most,however. 

Q. You're a physician, Doc. You also went to law 

scliool , didn't y o u ,  Doctor? 

A. I'm a physician Doc. You also went to law 

school. Yes I went to law school f o r  one year couns. 

Q. You read Dr kennedy's report, Doctor. 

A. Yes Sir, I did. 

Q. Now often you're called upon, are you not, in 

your practice of medicine to ..how should I say 

it . . .  look over the shoulder of another doctor, one who 
treated a patient for her complaints, scheduled.. First 

of all discussed, then scheduled, then performed 

surgery, followed up with her, a doctor who had a hands 

on opportunity, if you will, to observe and feel the 

patient, correct? 

Mr Roche: Objection 

A. I'm sorry. I don't understand the question. 

Q. Alright. Let me phrase it this way. You're 

often asked, as you were in this case, to examine, a 

patient and give a report of your findings, and review 

the records, and the findings, and the conclusions of 

that patient's treating physician. Correct? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. And again, a treating physician, as it is in 

your case with your patients, you spend more time with 

thein than let's say one who is called upon to render 

and to give a defense medical. Wouldn't you say that D r  

Kennedy spent more time with Nancy Brooks than you did? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now given that, do you believe that you're in 

a better position to comment on whether or not Nancy 

B r o o k s  sustained the type of injury that she complained 

of, that you're in a better position to report on that 

and give conclusions than her treating physician, Dr 

Kennedy? You think you're in a better position? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. N o w  also in your practice, Doctor, 

do you make a judgement as to how truthful a patient 

is, how honest a patient is, how reliable they are in 

terms of the history that they give you? I mean, does 

that enter into your assessment? 

A. I'm sorry. I think very slowly and I notice 

that if I take a deep breath you've already asked me 

six questions. 

Q. Okay. I 'm  sorry. 

A. Y e s .  I believe that as a physician in n;y 

cormal practice, given the number of years that I've 
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b e e n  in p r a c t i c e ,  I p r o b a b l y  do  i t  u n c o n s c i o u s l y .  .But 

t h a t ' s  r i g h t .  I do  make t h a t  a s s e s s m e n t .  

Q. Well  d i d  you h a v e  enough  t i m e ,  you  t h i n k ,  t o  

f o r m u l a t e  a n  o p i n i o n  b a s e d  o n  a s s e s s m e n t  o f  Nzncy 

E r o o k s ?  

A .  Yes.  

Q. Do you t h i n k  s h e  was t r u t h f u l  when s h e  t a l k e d  

t o  you ? 

A .  Yes. 

Q. I n  y o u r  f i l e  . . .  who h a s  t h e  f i l e ?  You h a v e  

y o u r  f i l e .  May I j u s t  s e e  i t  f o r  a s e c o n d ,  D o c t o r ?  

How many l e t t e r s ,  Dr B r o o k s ,  h a v e  you  r e c e i v e d  

f r o m  A t t o r n e y  Roche? 

A .  L e t ' s  c o u n t  t hem.  

Q. Okay. Thank you .  

A .  P r o b a b l y  more  t h a n  I s e n t  t o  h im ,  b u t  l e t ' s  

c o u n t  t hem.  O n e , t w o ,  t h r e e ,  f o u r ,  f i v e ,  s i x ,  

s e v e n  . . .  s i x  l e t t e r s  a n d  o n e  copy  of a l e t t e r  t o  

somebody e l s e .  

Q. ' ? k a t ' s  a l l  I h a v e  r i g h t  now, D o c t o r .  Thank 

you * 

A .  Ycu'  r e  we1 come. 

R e d i r e c t  e x a m i n a t i o n  by M r  Roche :  

Q *  D o c t o r ,  I h a v e  a few q u e s t i o n s  f o r  y o u .  You 

were  a s k e d  abc;ut t e s t i m o n y  t h a t  y o u ' v e  g i v e n  i n  o t h e r  



1 

3 

4 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

2 2  

2 3  

24 

2 5  

67 

cases. Is it true to say, Doctor, that you have given. 

testimony not only when requested to do so by 

defendants in cases like this, but also you've 

testified on behalf of plaintiffs. Is that correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And when you have given testimony on these 

other occasions have your qualifications as a medical 

expert witness been recognized by the courts in which 

you have testified? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You were asked about your position to give an 

opinion in this case versus the position of Dr kennedy 

and you indicated that you felt you were in a better 

position to give opinions about those things that you 

have testified. I'm saying that awkwardly, but why is 

that? Would you explain that to us? 

A. Yes. I had the opportunity to examine Mrs 

Brooks. I had the opportunity to review Dr Coleman's 

records, Dr Kennedy's records, the physical therapy 

records. Chiropractor Leone's records, azd the hospital 

records, as well as performing my own independent 

examination. >ad therefore, I believe that I had more 

information available to me than Dr Kennedy did. 

Q. Okay. 

A. And . . .  I'm sorry. I took a deep breath again. 
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I also believe that if Dr Kennedy is an accurate 

observer and an accurate recorder ~f his observations I 

have as much information about his patient as he had. 

And then I had all of the additional information that I 

have. 

Q. Okay, thank you. Doctor, you had indicated 

that . . .  in response to some questions regarding Dr 
Coleman's records, I think. No, Dr Kennedy's records, 

that in May of 1933, after this surgery was performed 

on Mrs Brooks' shoulder, she continued to have problems 

with that shoulder. Is that finding significant in any 

way, that she still had problems even after this 

surgery was done? 

A. Yes. 

Mr Henretta: Objection 

Q. Why is tL,at significant? You were asked about 

it. Explain why its significant. 

A. I believe its significant because it 

indicates to me that the surgery did not...or was not 

performed for all t h e  problems that Mrs Brooks had 

about her shoulder. That is to say, from my review of 

the records it appeared that the procedure that D r  

Kennedy did was done in a standard fashion and that 

what he did he did properly. When you do a proper 

operation for the proper indication the patient is 



73 
a, 
2 
f: 
-4 
+J c 
0 
u 
a, 
s 
m 
a, 
m 
Kl 
u 
# 

-Ti r: 
c, 

c 
H 

2 

2 
0 
c, 

3.r 
m 
k 
-r( 
a, 
s 
c, 

w 
0 

a 
a, 
3 
a, 
-4 

a, 
k 

r-i 

c, Gl 

2 
a, 
k 
a, c 
c, 

0 
m 
d 
0 
-ri 
c, 
(d 
k 
a, 
pc 
0 

ul 
-rl 

* 
k 
a, 
c, 
w 
(d 

m 

0 
c, 
A 

h 
m 
a' 
> 
(d s 
0 
c, 

c 

E 

E 

m 
0 
c, 

E 

2 
h 
vl 

t3-l 
f: 
-4 
> 
(d c 
# 
6 
3 

a, s bl 

h c 
3 

m c 
0 
m 
(d 
a, 
k 

k 
a, 
s: 
c, 
0 

G 
a, 
a, 
A 

a, 
> 
(d 
s: 

a 
a, 

4.J 
(d 
k 
a, 
pc 
0 

a, c 
c: 
u 
-rl * c 
k 
0 
Y1 

a, 
m 
0 r: 
c, 

a, 
a 
-4 
ul 
a, 
A 

a, c 
c, 
(d c 
c, r-i 

(d 
$4 w 

w a, 
? 3 

a, 
Gl 

u 
k 
0 a 
+J a, 
(d 0 

c, m 
0 v.5 
'4 

a, 
i 4  a, c a, 

c, 3 

b"4 

c 3 
(d 0 c h 
c, 

k k 
a, 0 c +J 
c, u 
0 0 

R 
tn 
f: 
-rl a, 
G * a l  
(d a m  
a, a, z 3 r -  

a 
a, 
k 

-rl 
(d 
pc 

* a ,  * 

O k 4 0  

0 
c, 

k 
a, 
w 
a, 
k 

CI 
(d 
.G 
c, 

m a 
k 
0 
u 
0 
k 

h 
pc 
Kl 
!Ll 

a, c 
+J 

r-i 

Kl 
V 
-4 
m 
h 
A 
Qi 

c, 
5 
0 
A 
(d 

m c 
0 
-4 
c, 
m 
a, 
2 
0' 

a, c: 
c, 

0 
c, 

a, 
u c 
a, 
k 
a, 
w 
a, 
k 

t2 
0 
m 
a c 
rb 

d 
0 
-rl 
tn 
a, 
k 

m 
2 
-ri 
N 
a, 
D.4 
(d 
k 
c, 

k 
a, 
pc 
PI 
3 

a, c 
c, 

. 

r. 
m r= 
0 
*r( 

c, 
m 
a, 
3 
0- 

w 
0 

ul 
a, 
-d 
k 
a, 
m 
+J 
(d c 
c, 

rf 
r-i 

(d 
V 
a, 
k 

3 
0 
h 

0 
a 

k 
a, a 
3 
0 c rn 
c, 
s: 
tn 
-4 
k 

4 

k 
0 

G2 
tn c 
-4 a c 
-4 
Y-( 

k 
3 
0 
h 

c: 
3 
+J c 
a, 
c, 
m 
-d 
m c 
0 
u c 
-4 

a, 
A 

0 
c, 

a 
k 
0 
u 
a, 
k 

h 
pc 
(d 
k 
a, s 
+J 

c, 
.rl 

a, a 
k! 
H 

a c 
(d 

0 
+J 
a 
a, 
+J 
m 
a, 
k 

a, 
k 
al 
3 

h 
a, c: 
E 

Pi 

2.4 
a, 
a 
2 
0 c: 
G3 

k 
a, 
s: 
0 
*-' 

TI 
a, 
.I-) 
(d 

a, 
k 

c, 
0 
k" 

a, 
k 
a, 
3 

d 

r-l 

A 

(d 
u 
.r( 

m 
h 
s 
A 

Q, s 
+J 

c 
-4 

a 
Q) 
+J 
u 
a, 
w 
a, 
k 

a, 
k 
a, 
3 

a, 
m 
0 s 
E 

-4 

m 
3 
-4 
N 
a, 
(4 
Kl 
k 
c, 

k 
a, c: 

a 
k 
k 
? 
u 
u 
0 

La 
a, 
a 
3 
0 r: 
m 
a, c 
c, 

0 
c, 

m 
0 
u c 
a, 
k 
a, 
w 
a, 
k 

a, r: 
E 

r-i 

Gl 
a, 
c, 
0 c 
3.r 
A 
(d 
k 
a, c: 

h a 
Kl 
k 
a, 
s: 
c, 

lit 

td 
V 
+r( 

m 
h r: 
14 

td 

h 
R 

a, a 
(d 
E 
0 
Ul 

a 
a, 
Ll 
a, 
9 

h 
a, c: 
4 

w 
G 
05 

rf 
0 

k 
a, 
c, 
(d 

l - 4  

+J 
u 
cd 
w 

a, c 
-LA 

c, 
3 
0 
A 
(d 

a 
a, c 
k 
a, 
u c 
0 
u 
a, 

+J 

c, 
-4 

r-i 

d 

rb 

E - 
H 

5-1 
0 
c, 
u 
0 
a 

0 



7 0  

1 

2 

3 

4 

K 
.2 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

1 3  

1 4  

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

-- 3 1  

2 2  

2 3  

2 4  

25 

t h a t  c o u n s e l  t o o k  y o u  t h r o u g h  a s e r i e s  of l e t t e r s .  I 

t h i n k  you c o u n t e d  s e v e n  of them t h a t  a p p e a r  i n  y o u r  

f i l e  t h a t  were froin me. In  any  o f  t h o s e  r e c o r d s  d i d  I 

i n d i c a t e  t o  you  i n  any  way,  s h a p e ,  o r  f o r m  what I would 

l i k e  t o  see  d o n e  by way of y o u r  o p i n i o n s  i n  t h i s  c a s e ?  

Do I make any  s u g g e s t i o n s  t o  you a s  t o  wha t  f i n d i n g s  

you s h o u l d  make,  t h a t  s o r t  o f  t h i n g ?  

A .  You d i d n ' t  and  w i t h  a l l  d u e  r e s p e c t  I would 

h a v e  i g n o r e d  i t  anyhow. 

Q. R e g a r d i n g  t h e  l e t t e r s  t h a t  I d i d  s e n d  you ,  on 

December 1 4  I s e n t  you one  s a y i n g  e n c l o s e d  a r e  m e d i c a l  

r e c o r d s  r e g a r d i n g  Mrs B r o o k s .  C o r r e c t ,  S i r ?  

A .  Yes.  

Q. A l r i g h t ,  t h e r e ' s  a l e t t e r  J u l y  1 3  i n  wh ich  I 

s e n d  r e c o r d s  f r o m  D r  Kennedy ,  Leone ,  more  r e c o r d s  froin 

D r  Kennedy.  T h e s e  a r e  a l l  c o v e r  l e t t e r s  € o r  m e d i c a l  

r e c o r d s  I p r o v i d e d  t o  y o u ,  r i g h t ?  

A .  Y e s .  

Q. And a s  I p r o v i d e d  you more  m e d i c a l  r e c o r d s  I 

p u t  a n o t h e r  c o v e r  l e t t e r  on i t ,  r i g h t ?  

A .  C o r r e c t .  

Q. A n d  i n  t h i s  c a s e  I a p p a r e n t l y  p r o v i d e d  you on 

s e v e n  o c c a s i o n s  s e v e n  s e t s  o r  s e v e n  s e t s  of m e d i c a l  

r e c o r d s .  C o r r e c t ,  S i r ?  

A .  Yes.  
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Q * *  D r  B r o o k s ,  i n  t h i s  c a s e ,  do you f e e l  t h a t  you  

h a v e  r e c e i v e d  a l l  o f  t h e  m e d i c a l  r e c o r d s ,  a l l  t h e  

r a d i o g r a p h s  t h a t  you do  n e e d  i n  o r d e r  t o  f o r m  yoGr 

o p i n i o n  i n  t h e  c a s e ?  

A .  Yes.  

Q. I s  t h e r e  a n y t h i n g  e l s e  t h a t  you f e e l  t h a t  I 

s h o u l d  h a v e  p r o v i d e d  t o  you t h a t  I d i d  n o t ?  

M r  H e n r e t t a :  O b j e c t i o n  

A .  No. 

Q. Okay. I h a v e  n o t h i n g  e l s e  t o  a s k  you ,  D o c t o r .  

Thank you .  

R e c r o s s  E x a m i n a t i o n  by M r  E e n r e t t a :  

Q. You 've  worked i n  c o n n e c t i o n  w i t h  M r  Roche and  

members of h i s  f i r m  i n  t h e  p a s t ,  h a v e n ' t  you ,  D o c t o r ?  

A .  Yes.  

Q. Do y o u  know how many t i m e s ?  

A .  K O .  

Q. FGr how l o n g ?  You know, wha t  p e r i o d  of t i m e ?  

A .  I d o n ' t  e v e n  know when I f i r s t  m e t  M r  Roche 

o r  when I f i r s t  s t a r t e d  w o r k i n g  w i t h  members of  t h e  

f i r m  w i t h  w h i c h  h e  i s  now a s s o c i a t e d .  

Q. H e  was w i t h  a n o t h e r  fi-m b e f o r e  D a v i s  and  

Young? 

.. H . 
Q. 

Yes.  

Do you know w h i c h  one?  
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\A. Yes. 

Q. Which one? 

A .  Eyers, Hentemann. 

Q. They do 2efense work as well? 

A. Defense work, plaintiffs work. 

Q. f4ostly defense? 

A. I'm not privy to their bookkeeping. 

Q. Okay. Alright. Davis and Young do mostly 

defense, as far as you know? 

A. Again, they also do plaintiffs work and 

again.. . 
c z .  Do y o u  recall having been called as a witness 

in a plaintiff's case for Mr Roche? 

A .  Yes. 

Q. Okay, on how many occasions? 

A. Vel1 I'm at the present time involved in 

treating one of h i s  clients in a plaintiff's case. 

(2. Its safe to say you've done more defense work 

for them than you have plaintiff's work though. Its 

safe to say that you've done more defense work, y o u  

h c w ,  served as an expert in a defense case than you 

have in a p1ainti:f's case. 

A .  For Mr Roche? 

Q. And his firm. 

A. I don't know what's safe to say  about his 
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f i r m  b u t  w i t h  r e s p e c t  t o  h im I t h i n k  I ' v e  s e r v e d  a s  h i s  

e x p e r t  i n  a d e f e n s e  c a p a c i t y  maybe on t h r e e  o c c a s i o n s .  

Q. Okay. And y o u ' r e  aware of one  p l a i n t i f f ' s  

case?  

A .  

Q. 

A .  

Yes.  

Okay.  T h a t ' s  a l l .  Thank y o u ,  D o c t o r .  

You' r e  we1 come. 

M r  Roche :  N o t h i n g  f u r t h e r .  

The w i t n e s s  wa ived  v i e w i n g  of t h e  v i d e o t a p e  and  c o u n s e l  

wa ived  f i l i n g  o f  t h e  v i d e o t a p e .  


